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Whitbread PLC is the UK’s  
leading hospitality company.

We have created a strong platform  
to build upon in the three sectors of the 
hospitality market where we have leading 
positions – budget hotels, restaurants  
and sports, health and fitness clubs.

OVERVIEW

Costa – with more than 340 stores, the 
UK’s second-biggest branded coffee 
shop business. It is developing outside 
the UK under franchise.

T.G.I. Friday’s – 43 American restaurant 
and bar outlets across the UK. Operated 
under franchise from Carlson Hospitality.

David Lloyd Leisure – 56 sports, health 
and fitness clubs across the UK with 
another nine clubs in the Netherlands, 
Belgium and Ireland.

Premier Travel Inn – the UK’s biggest 
hotels business, with more than 28,400 
bedrooms across more than 450 
different locations throughout the UK.

Pizza Hut 
W to come

Pizza Hut UK – the UK’s biggest  
pizza restaurant business with more 
than 600 full-service, home delivery and  
takeaway outlets across the country. 
Pizza Hut UK is a 50/50 joint venture 
owned by Whitbread and Yum! Brands.
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Business and financial highlights
Continuing growth

1,721

1,780
1,866

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

1,965 1,977
2,111

1,721

1,780
1,866

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

214

241

264

1,721

1,780
1,866

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

52.72

58.22

64.08

†see note 12 on page 64

Adjusted earnings per share† (pence)Profit before tax  
and exceptional items  (£m)

Whitbread 2004/5  change

Group sales £2,111m +6.8%

Profit before tax and exceptional items £264m +9.4%

Profit before tax £249m +17.8%

Return on capital employed (%)*  10.5% +0.4% point
*pre-tax and before exceptional items, excluding the acquisition of Premier Lodge.

Group sales (£m)
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTSFor the fourth year in succession we 
have generated double-digit growth 
in adjusted earnings per share†.

1,721

1,780
1,866

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

19.87

22.30

25.25

1,721

1,780
1,866

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

9.4
10.1

10.5

*excludes Premier Lodge

Dividend per share (pence) Underlying group return  
on capital employed* (%)

Adjusted earnings per share†

10.1%
increase  

to 64.08p

Strong operating cash flow

£440
million

net inflow

Increased full-year dividend

13.2%
increase  

to 25.25p
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Chairman’s statement
Continued growth

The last 12 months have seen the 
opening of an exciting new chapter in 
the Whitbread story. 

The acquisition and successful 
integration of Premier Lodge to form 
Premier Travel Inn was accompanied 
by continued good growth in sales, 
like-for-like sales and by another steady 
improvement in return on capital 
employed (on an underlying basis). 
For the fourth year in succession we 
have achieved double-digit growth in 
adjusted earnings per share.

As a result, Whitbread is now in  
a position to make a significant return  
of cash to shareholders by crystallising 
the value that has been built up over  
the past decade in our full-service  
hotel properties.

A period of transformation
The last five years have seen a 
transformation in the shape of 
Whitbread:

2000 –  sale of brewing and off-licence 
businesses;

2001 – demerger of pubs and bars;

2004 –  acquisition of Premier Lodge and 
creation of Premier Travel Inn;

2005 –  exit from Marriott  
full-service hotels.

While the disposal of more than  
£3.5 billion worth of assets has 
dominated the headlines, the real story 
has been about our organic growth, as 
Whitbread has set about building its 
budget hotels, restaurants and sports, 
health and fitness clubs to become the 
UK’s leading hospitality company.

Sir John Banham 
Chairman
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The last 12 months have seen the  
opening of an exciting new chapter  
in the Whitbread story. 

It is remarkable that the company 
has continued to deliver such steady 
performances during a period of change 
that included significant global events 
affecting our industry. Since 2000/1, 
Whitbread has delivered double-digit 
growth in adjusted earnings per share 
year-after-year and it has raised its 
return on capital employed.

Total shareholder returns have improved 
both in absolute terms and in relation to 
other large UK quoted companies.

Dividend
The Board’s confidence in Whitbread’s 
organic growth prospects is reflected in 
the final dividend payment of 18.35p per 
share, making a total dividend for the 
year of 25.25p per share, an increase of 
13.2%. The final dividend will be paid on 
8 July to shareholders on the register at 
the close of business on 6 May 2005.

People
During the time that I have been at 
Whitbread I have been fortunate to work 
with many talented individuals. The 
quality of the people that we are able to 
attract at all levels of the organisation 
testifies to its spirit and remains a key 
area of competitive strength.

The changes of the last five years 
have been made possible by the 
skill, enthusiasm and dedication of 
thousands of Whitbread people who 
provide millions of guests with the kind 
of welcome that encourages them to 
return time and again. On your behalf  
it is my privilege to thank them all.

It is notable that Angie Risley, our 
Human Resources Director, has joined 
the Board. Whitbread is one of only  
six FTSE 100 companies where the  
human resources function is represented 
directly at Board level.

The Board

At this year’s Annual General Meeting 
we shall say farewell to three directors. 
David Richardson, our Finance Director, 
has played a central role in transforming 
Whitbread. His successor, Christopher 
Rogers, has a hard act to follow. Both 
Prue Leith and David Williamson will 
be standing down as non-executive 
directors, after 17 years combined 
service. Both have made notable 
contributions to the company and  
we wish them every happiness. 

Finally, this is my last Whitbread annual 
report. My successor Anthony Habgood 
will find that it is both a pleasure and 
a privilege to help guide and serve a 
company with such a distinguished past 
and such an exciting future.

 
Sir John Banham 
Chairman

25 April  2005
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Chief Executive’s review
Strategy, decisions and actions

We have an ambitious vision – to be the 
best hospitality company there is.

In pursuit of this vision we have created a 
strong platform to build upon in the three 
sectors of the hospitality market where 
we have leading positions – budget 
hotels, restaurants and sports, health  
and fitness clubs.

I firmly believe that it’s our 40,000 
people that hold the key to our success. 
By building a One Whitbread, No Limits 
culture we will unleash their full potential.

We aim to create value for our 
shareholders through generating higher 
returns from our invested capital and 
through disciplined growth.

Over the course of the last year we have 
made significant progress and have 
substantially completed the reshaping  
of Whitbread for the future. We have 
taken a number of decisive steps:

•  comprehensive business review 
undertaken;

•  created Premier Travel Inn following  
the £505 million acquisition of  
Premier Lodge;

•  consolidated our pub restaurants 
businesses under one management team;

•  decided to sell our Marriott hotels 
business and non-core assets, with  
an expected realisation of £1.3 billion;

•  announced a significant return  
of cash to shareholders;

•  strengthened the senior  
management team;

•  started to build a One Whitbread,  
No Limits  culture.

Alan Parker 
Chief Executive
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“ The best hospitality company there is”
The past twelve months have been 
a period of transformation at Whitbread. 

Business review
In June 2004 the Whitbread Board 
began a review to identify the actions 
required to achieve our ambition. 

We were able to do this from a position 
of strength with a solid track record 
of earnings growth; year-on-year 
improvements in return on capital 
employed; and ownership of good 
assets and strong brands.

The review involved:

• reappraisal of business plans;

•  canvassing of views from our people, 
our shareholders and our customers;

•  assessment of the competitive 
environment and outlook for 
market growth.

By October we were ready to share the 
outcomes of our review and set forth a 
new strategy for the company focused 
on four key objectives:

Strengthening the leading positions of 
our businesses in three sectors of the 
UK hospitality market:

• budget hotels;

• restaurants;

• sports, health and fi tness clubs.

Generating return on capital employed 
ahead of the group’s cost 
of capital on a consistent basis:

•  every Whitbread business is
targeted to achieve and sustain 
an economic profi t.

 Achieving sustainable earnings 
growth through:

•  new site investment in value 
generative businesses;

•  sharpened consumer focus to drive 
like-for-like sales;

•  better ways of working to lower costs;

•  international development on solid 
UK base.

Commitment to improving shareholder 
returns through:

•  dividends growing faster than 
earnings per share;

•  returning to shareholders at least 
half of the proceeds from identifi ed 
asset sales, based upon current 
investment plans.

Creating Premier Travel Inn
In July, Whitbread acquired Premier Lodge 
from Spirit Group for £505 million, 
increasing our scale in the exciting 
and fast-growing budget hotels sector 
by nearly 50%.

Over the following 32 weeks we integrated 
Premier Lodge with our own Travel Inn 
business, combining under one brand 
more than 28,400 bedrooms across more 
than 450 sites, to create Premier Travel Inn. 

Our aim was not simply to increase 
scale: by combining Travel Inn and 
Premier Lodge and marketing them 
to the UK consumer under one brand, 
we are able to realise signifi cant cost 
and revenue synergies.

The transaction was an early signal of 
Whitbread’s new direction, consolidating 
our leading position in budget hotels, 
a sector where we have a track record 
of value creation.

STRATEGY, DECISIONS AND ACTIONS

The Whitbread Way

At Whitbread we are proud of 
who we are. We believe in four 
principles that guide our actions and 
behaviours. It’s the way we do things 
and it’s called the Whitbread Way.

•  People and teamwork

•  Caring for guests

• Passion for winning

• Continuous improvement

The Whitbread Way is part of our 
260 year heritage and is shared 
across our family of brands.

I am delighted that Anthony 
Habgood is to join Whitbread. 
Anthony (aged 58) is currently 
Chairman of Bunzl PLC and he will 
bring a wealth of experience to the 
company as our new Chairman 
when Sir John Banham retires 
in August.

I would like to thank Sir John for 
his enormous contribution to the 
company over the last six years 
which has seen substantial growth 
in total shareholder return.

Chairman’s succession
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Pub restaurants consolidation
Whitbread has one of the best pub 
restaurant estates in the UK; and in 
Brewers Fayre and Beefeater we have 
two established brands.

In January we brought together all of 
our pub restaurants as a single business,  
run by one management team under 
Phil Urban.

Phil and his team are focused on 
generating long-term growth and  
a significant improvement in return on 
capital employed, from a business that 
has yet to reach its true potential.

Marriott exit and disposal  
of non-core assets
Following the business review, we took 
the decision to reduce our exposure  
to – and ultimately exit from – the  
full-service hotels sector where we are 
the UK operators of the Marriott brand. 

Having spent the past decade building 
up the business, in my previous role as 
Managing Director of Whitbread Hotel 
Company, the decision was not an easy 
one for me personally.

However, despite our out-performance  
of the sector, the fact is that we have  
not been able to generate high enough 
returns from this franchised business. 
With an expected realisation of at  
least £1 billion – and a substantial 
return of cash to shareholders – this is a 
strategically important step for Whitbread.

The first disposals were announced 
in November 2004, with the sale 
agreement for £79 million of  
11 Courtyard by Marriott hotels.

Then in March 2005, we announced our 
intention to sell a further 46 Marriott 
hotels into a joint venture with Marriott 
International (transferring the operation 
of the hotels to Marriott). 

On 25 April 2005 we announced the 
conditional sale of our German  
steak-house business Maredo.

In addition, we have identified three 
other areas where we will make 
disposals to crystallise value for our 
shareholders:

•  Britannia Soft Drinks  – Whitbread 
holds a 23.75% stake in Britannia Soft 
Drinks Limited (BSD). The company 
intends to dispose of this holding via 
an initial public offering of BSD. The 
shareholders of BSD have agreed that 
this can occur between 1 January 
2005 and 31 December 2008;

•  Chiswell Street – after more than  
250 years we will be disposing of our 
Chiswell Street site;

•  hotel properties – we intend to sell  
an additional seven hotel properties 
not forming part of the main 
Marriott disposal.

Significant return of cash  
to shareholders
We expect to realise £1.3 billion through 
the sale of Marriott Hotels and other 
assets that are not core to our strategy. 
This restructuring, which is now 
substantially complete, will step up 
Whitbread’s return on capital employed. 
We will make a significant return of cash 
to our shareholders and reduce both our 
debt and our pension fund deficit.

In May this year we will pay a special 
dividend of 135p per share, returning  
a total of £400 million to shareholders.

Building One Whitbread and strengthening 
the ‘Whitbread Way’ culture will play a key 
role in achieving our vision.

We reached a key milestone in March 2005 
with the first One Whitbread Convention.

The event brought together, for the first 
time in Whitbread’s history, all of our 
1,600 outlet managers. The event was 
also attended by our key suppliers.
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STRATEGY, DECISIONS AND ACTIONS

One Whitbread, No Limits culture
Building One Whitbread and 
strengthening the ‘Whitbread Way’ 
culture will play a key role in achieving 
our vision.

We reached a key milestone in March 
2005 when we brought together, for the 
fi rst time in Whitbread’s history, all of 
our 1,600 outlet managers at the 
One Whitbread Convention.

WINcard

In 2005/6 we are introducing a standard 
business performance tool for every 
single Whitbread employee in every 
single outlet or offi ce throughout the 
company.

It’s called the ‘WINcard’ or ‘Whitbread 
in Numbers card’ and it will change the 
way that we do business.

WINcard introduces a set of performance 
criteria that are consistent across each 
individual component of the company. 
It takes a balanced scorecard approach 
to assess how each outlet or business 
unit serves our key stakeholder groups: 
our people; our guests; and our 
shareholders.

The criteria are based upon the key 
performance indicators for Whitbread:

• retention of our people;

• health and safety;

• brand standards;

• guest recommendations;

• like-for-like sales growth;

• profi t growth.

The WINcard will be used at every unit 
by every brand. At group and brand level 
economic profi t and outlet growth are 
also measured.

Better ways of working

As part of our business review we 
established a Better Ways of Working 
programme. The purpose of this is to 
identify areas where we can maximise 
synergies and by doing so take costs out 
of our operating overhead.

There are four key areas where we 
are focusing our eff orts on realising 
these synergies – people, processes, 
procurement and property.

Driving effi ciencies is critical at a time 
when, like many retailers, we are facing 
signifi cant cost pressures in areas such as 
gas, electricity, business rates and labour.

Our people

My fi rst year as your Chief Executive 
has been an exciting time of change. 
We have restructured Whitbread to 
create sustained value for shareholders. 
The 100% commitment and enthusiasm 
of all our people to the principles of 
the Whitbread Way and the No Limits 
culture is very impressive. I am very 
proud to work alongside them to make 
Whitbread the best hospitality company 
there is.

Changes to senior 
management team
To deliver our strategy, we need the right 
people in the right positions. Over the 
last 12 months we have made a number 
of key appointments to our senior 
management team:

•  Finance Director (eff ective 1 May 2005) 
– Christopher Rogers has joined us 
from Woolworths Group where he 
held the position of Finance Director;

•  Managing Director, pub restaurants 
– Phil Urban joined Whitbread from 
Spirit Group, having previously spent 
ten years at Scottish and Newcastle 
Retail;

•  Group Development Director 
– Desmond Taljaard joined Whitbread 
from J Sainsbury where he was 
Property Director, a position he also 
held at Hilton Group;

•  Group Commercial Director 
– Paula Vennells is responsible for 
coordinating the group’s commercial 
activities including marketing and 
procurement. Previously she was 
Marketing Director for Whitbread 
Restaurants;

•  Director of Group Information 
Systems – Ben Wishart joined 
Whitbread from Tesco where 
he was an IT Director.

The WINcard is our business. It refl ects 
our philosophy that if we take care of 
our people, they will take care of our 
guests, which in turn drives profi ts 
and enables us to create value for our 
shareholders. It is unique to Whitbread 
and will clearly diff erentiate us from 
the competition. 
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Group trading: in a year of transformation, 
Whitbread has made progress against the 
key strategic measures of earnings growth 
and return on capital employed. 

Premier Travel Inn is a simple business 
and it is at the heart of Whitbread.  
“The management treat the team  
like family members” says receptionist 
Farkhanda Iqbal (‘Elli’). 
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OPERATING REVIEW

We have now converted 33 more 
Beefeaters to our new format. 
Emma Bryant (above) is an assistant 
chef at The Old Barn in Milton Keynes.

Growth in a year of transformation
In a year of transformation, Whitbread 
has made progress against the key 
strategic measures of earnings growth 
and return on capital employed.

For the fourth year in succession we 
have generated double-digit growth in 
adjusted earnings per share.

On an underlying basis (excluding the 
acquired Premier Lodge assets and 
exceptional items), group return on 
capital employed improved to 10.5% 
from 10.1%.

Both Premier Travel Inn and our 
high street restaurants had an 
outstanding year. Performance from 
pub restaurants has been mixed and 
a new management team has been 
appointed. David Lloyd Leisure has 
achieved sales and profi t growth in 
a competitive market. 

In Marriott, where we have been unable 
to generate acceptable returns, we 
made the decision to crystallise value for 
shareholders through a complete exit.

Across the group we have increased 
turnover by 6.8% and strengthened 
group margin by 0.7% point to 15.5%, 
driving a 9.4% improvement in profi t 
before exceptional items and tax.

Like-for-like sales were ahead by 2.6% and 
we have continued the organic growth 
of our businesses, with outlet numbers 
across the group increasing by 15%.

Investment in new sites, mainly for 
Premier Travel Inn, Brewers Fayre and 
David Lloyd Leisure, totalled £681 million, 
including the acquisition of Premier Lodge.

In 2005/6 our David Lloyd Leisure clubs 
will be introducing a range of new studio 
classes to help members get more out of 
their club. Nick Acock is a personal trainer 
at our Oxford club, which opened in 2003.

By placing a sharper focus on the 
value that we off er our guests and by 
leveraging the benefi ts of scale we aim 
to enhance the competitive positions of 
each of our businesses, driving long-term 
growth and further improvements in 
return on capital employed.

Outlook
The underlying trends seen in the last 
quarter of 2004/5 have continued:

•  total group sales growth in the 
fi rst seven weeks of the new fi nancial 
year has remained strong, primarily 
due to the contribution from 
Premier Travel Inn;

•  growth in like-for-like sales has 
slowed, particularly in pub restaurants 
and David Lloyd Leisure.

Despite signs of a less confi dent 
consumer, we anticipate ongoing 
Whitbread delivering increased sales 
in the year ahead.

A tightening environment is evident 
from the higher costs arising from 
national minimum wage, utility charges 
and the fi ve-year rating revaluation. 
We are taking steps to limit the impact 
of these increases through operational 
eff ectiveness and margin management 
and we shall keep capital expenditure 
under disciplined review. 

The Board believes that Whitbread is 
well placed for further organic growth, 
improvements in returns and dividends 
growing faster than earnings per share. 
This confi dence is refl ected in the Board’s 
recommendation of a 13.6% increase in 
the fi nal dividend, bringing the total for 
the year to 25.25p.
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By creating the UK’s largest hotels business,  
we have more than 28,400 bedrooms in  
452 locations across the UK.

Premier Travel Inn: the integration of 
Travel Inn and Premier Lodge to form 
Premier Travel Inn took just 32 weeks, 
creating the UK’s largest hotels business.
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Premier Travel Inn 2004/5 change

Sales £323m +41%

Like-for-like 
sales*  +6.4%

Operating profi t 
pre-exceptional 
items £109.0m +47%

Operating profi t 
post-exceptional 
items £103.0m +39%

Return on 
capital employed* 15.7% +2.1%  
  points

*Excludes Premier Lodge and exceptional items

The performance of Premier Travel Inn 
has been particularly encouraging with 
sales increasing from £230 million to 
£323 million and operating profi t up 
47% to £109 million.

Although this level of growth is due 
in part to the acquired Premier Lodge 
units (which contributed 32 weeks 
trading), like-for-like sales growth of 
6.4% and return on capital employed of 
15.7% in the former Travel Inn outlets, 
demonstrate the health of the business.

Operating profi t in former Travel Inn 
pushed ahead by 17.8%, driven by 
improvements in occupancy, room rate 
and operating margin. Occupancy 
moved up to 81.2% from 80.2% as London 
units experienced a stronger fi rst half 
than in the previous year and achieved 
room rate grew by 4.2% to £43.25. 
Room yield increased by 5.6% to £35.14.

We have opened 817 new bedrooms 
in addition to the 9,498 from 
Premier Lodge. We plan to open 
1,800 new bedrooms in 2005/6. 

We have introduced Travel Inn’s 
transparent pricing policy into the 
former Premier Lodge units, eliminating 
discounts and commission payments. 

This has contributed to a 6.5% year-on-
year increase in room yield in these units 
since the acquisition.

The integration of Travel Inn and Premier 
Lodge to form Premier Travel Inn took 
just 32 weeks, creating the UK’s largest 
hotels business, with more than 28,400 
bedrooms in 452 locations across the UK.

Its completion – on time and within 
budget – creates a platform for growth 
and will enable Whitbread to generate 
cost and revenue synergies.

We have rebuilt our reservations system 
to accommodate the acquired and 
‘pipeline’ bedrooms. This should enable 
us to raise occupancy in the former 
Premier Lodge outlets towards the 
higher levels enjoyed by Travel Inn.

With a larger estate, we are better able 
to retain and recycle demand through 
‘cross-sell’ (where we off er guests the 
nearest available Premier Travel Inn 
bedroom if their fi rst choice location is 
unavailable). Cross-selling generated 
£16.6 million of revenue over the 
course of the year, and we anticipate 
substantial growth in 2005/6.

By directing a higher proportion of 
reservations through the Internet, we 
are improving operational effi ciency and 
making it simpler for guests to book. 
On average the Internet accounted for 
31% of all our room reservations in 2004/5. 
The former Premier Lodge outlets 
experienced particularly strong growth 
with web bookings, rising from 19% prior to
acquisition to more than 30% by year-end.

To strengthen awareness of the 
new brand and to generate demand 
across our estate we launched, 
in February, a national television 
advertising campaign and a newly 
created Premier Travel Inn website.

Pizza Hut promises 
that every pizza delivered 
to customers will be 
‘hot and on time’.

OPERATING REVIEW

Premier Travel Inn guests enjoy 
breakfast in an adjacent Brewers Fayre 
– the best way to start the day.

occupancy

81% 
a 1% point improvement*

Premier Travel Inn has launched a 
new marketing campaign to generate 
awareness of the new brand.

*Travel Inn only
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After a difficult start to the year,  
like-for-like sales improved in the third 
quarter. This level of improvement was 
not maintained in the final quarter 
and for the year as a whole, margin, 
operating profit and return on capital 
employed declined.

Our largest pub restaurant brand, 
Brewers Fayre had another good year. 
After a slow start, Beefeater improved 
in the second half but Brewsters has 
underperformed. 

In January we consolidated all our  
pub restaurants under one 
management team. By operating  
as one business we will be able to 
achieve benefits of synergy and scale 
from our 600-strong estate.

Our new format for Beefeater is 
not simply about great grilled food. 
We have introduced a brighter 
service style which is winning a new 
generation of customers.

We aim to generate stronger sales 
growth by delivering better value to  
our customers, making our range of 
dishes more competitive and raising 
levels of service.

We will be integrating within  
Brewers Fayre the majority of our 
remaining 144 Brewsters branded 
outlets, which have been focused too 
heavily on young families. Conversion 
to Brewers Fayre’s more traditional 
pub restaurant format allows us to 
increase dining space and broaden their 
consumer appeal, whilst maintaining  
a family-friendly environment. 

We have converted a total of  
57 Beefeaters to our new format  
with 25 more to follow in 2005/6.  
We aim to generate performance uplift 
by extending our refreshed menu and 
service style across the entire Beefeater 
estate and by adapting our offering to 
drive sales throughout the week.

We have added 31 outlets to our estate 
and we will continue to grow in 2005/6.

The execution of our plans will  
lead to continued disruption in the  
short-term, but we believe that we have 
taken the actions that will underpin 
sustained growth.

Restaurants: over the past year we have 
added more than 159 new outlets across 
our pub restaurant and high street 
restaurant businesses.

Pub restaurants 2004/5 change

Sales £597m +1.1%

Like-for-like  
sales  +1.3%

Operating profit  
pre-exceptional  
items £78.3m (6.9)%

Operating profit  
post-exceptional  
items £78.0m (7.3)%

Return on  
capital employed* 10.1% (1.4)%  
  points

*  excluding pubs acquired as part of  
Premier Lodge and exceptional items
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High street
restaurants 2004/5 change

Sales £476m +5.1%

Like-for-like 
sales  +1.2%

Operating profi t £35.2m +24%

Return on 
capital employed 28.2% +2.9%  
  points

For the fourth year in succession, 
our high street restaurants have 
delivered growth in operating profi t 
greater than 20%.

A strong rise in outlet numbers, mainly 
from Costa and Pizza Hut, generated 
good sales increases and contributed 
to a 1.1% points improvement in 
operating margin.

Costa has added 66 new stores in 
the UK and has continued to enhance 
the quality of its estate by exiting 
under-performing outlets.

Over the course of 2005/6 Costa 
will accelerate its rate of growth, 
with an increasing proportion of 
new stores being opened under 
franchise agreements.

Through franchising, Costa is developing 
into an international retail business. Our 
presence in the Middle East has doubled 
and we now have 77 stores trading in 
nine countries in the region. Also we 
have signed agreements to take the 
brand into India, Ireland and Cyprus.

Over the last year, we have made a Over the last year, we have made a 
number of operational improvements number of operational improvements 
at T.G.I. Friday’s to drive sales and 
strengthen margin. By streamlining strengthen margin. By streamlining 
the T.G.I. Friday’s menu (removing a the T.G.I. Friday’s menu (removing a 
total of 45 items) we have simplifi ed total of 45 items) we have simplifi ed 
our back-of-house operations, improved our back-of-house operations, improved 
our speed of service and made gains our speed of service and made gains 
on our guest satisfaction scores.

We have opened new T.G.I. Friday’s stores We have opened new T.G.I. Friday’s stores 
in Bath and Harrogate and in 2005/6 in Bath and Harrogate and in 2005/6 
we expect to open in Fulham Broadway, we expect to open in Fulham Broadway, 
Newcastle-upon-Tyne and Poole. 

Outlet growth of 50 new stores at Outlet growth of 50 new stores at 
Pizza Hut fuelled further increases Pizza Hut fuelled further increases 
in sales and operating profi t.

Costa is the UK’s most profi table 
coff ee business and it is accelerating 
its growth both in the UK and 
(through franchise) in the Middle East 
and India.

We have introduced a new 
streamlined menu at T.G.I. Friday’s 
which is proving popular with our 
people and guests.
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David Lloyd  
Leisure 2004/5 change

Sales £219m +8.3%

Like-for-like  
sales  +3.6%

Operating profit  
pre-exceptional  
items* £51.0m +3.9%

Operating profit  
post-exceptional  
items* £41.0m (16.5)%

Return on  
capital employed*† 9.5% 0%  
  points

* before goodwill amortisation 
† before exceptional items

In a competitive market,  
David Lloyd Leisure continues to 
generate sales and profit growth.

The business delivered like-for-like sales 
growth of 3.6%, while new and recently 
opened clubs have performed ahead  
of our expectations.

Return on capital employed for our 
mature clubs remains impressive at 
15.1%, while for the business as a  
whole it stands at 9.5%.

As competition has intensified and 
consumer confidence weakened,  
we have seen increased attrition  
and slowing new member sales.  
This contributed to a decline in total  
UK membership, which finished the  
year down 2.3%. 

David Lloyd Leisure: return on capital 
employed in our mature clubs held steady 
at 15.1%, demonstrating the underlying 
strength of the business model.

David Lloyd Leisure is accelerating 
the progression to maturity in its 
new clubs – opening with more 
members from day one. 

Revenue per member improved while 
our membership retention dropped  
1% point to 72%.

Sales in the first half of 2005/6 will 
reflect the lower opening member 
numbers, although we expect to rebuild 
membership as the year progresses.  
We will drive new member sales through 
better marketing and a sharper focus 
on the health and fitness member. 
In addition we aim to strengthen 
membership retention through the 
introduction of new service skills training 
and a focus on brand standards.

Our new club in Worthing, West Sussex, 
has performed well, opening  
in November 2004 with record member 
numbers for a new club. 

In 2005/6 we will open two clubs  
in the UK, at Kingshill in Kent and at 
Southend-on-Sea in Essex.

Our overseas clubs have had a good  
year with membership rising to more 
than 40,000. We have added two clubs 
in the Netherlands to the five that we 
acquired from Cannons in 2003/4 and  
in November we opened our first club  
in Belgium, at Brussels. 

Our Dublin club continues to perform 
well and in June we will open our  
first club in Spain, at Barcelona.  
In its centenary year, the prestigious  
Real Club de Tenis del Turo will re-open 
under the David Lloyd Leisure banner.

David Lloyd Leisure’s nutrition 
guides are freely available for 
members.
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At David Lloyd Leisure our mission is to 
‘inspire for life’. Sports, health and fi tness 
should be fun whatever the age.

Marriott 2004/5 change

Sales £389m (0.6)%

Like-for-like 
sales  +3.5%

Operating profi t 
pre-exceptional 
items* £67.4m (5.7)%

Operating profi t 
post-exceptional 
items* £47.0m (16.1)%

Return on 
capital employed*† 6.1% (0.1)%  
  point

* before goodwill amortisation
† before exceptional items

With the full-service hotels market 
in gradual recovery, Marriott delivered 
like-for-like sales growth for the fi rst 
year since 2000/1. However, with the 
Swallow hotels and Courtyard by 
Marriott disposals leading to a reduction 
in the size of the estate, operating profi ts 
fell by 5.7%.

Underlying growth in profi t, excluding 
contributions from disposed hotels, 
was fl at. Occupancy in these hotels 
edged ahead by 1.8% points to 72.6% 
and achieved room rate improved by 
4% to £74.04, as Marriott recorded 
a 6.8% increase in room yield.

Marriott’s London hotels have been 
aff ected by the weakness of the 
US dollar, which appears to be stifl ing 
a full recovery of the North American 
business traveller market. 

An eff ective leisure breaks marketing 
campaign run over December and 
January and a good performance in 
the conference market gave us a strong 
fi nish to the year.

In March 2005 we announced our 
decision to exit the ownership and 
operation of our Marriott business. 
On 22 April a proposal to sell the 
majority of our full-service hotel assets 
into a joint venture with Marriott 
International received shareholder 
approval. Through this transaction 
we expect to realise at least £1 billion 
over the next two years. 

Britannia Soft Drinks
Britannia Soft Drinks (Britvic) enjoyed 
solid trading, despite less favourable 
summer weather. However, the 
business’s increased investment in 
existing and new brand extensions, 
IT and business infrastructure and 
increased pension costs led to a 18% 
decline in operating profi t. Britannia 
Soft Drinks paid to Whitbread a cash 
dividend for the year of £11.9 million.

I look forward to updating you on 
our progress later this year in the 
announcement of our half-year results.

 

Alan Parker
Chief Executive

25 April  2005

A successful leisure breaks 
marketing campaign gave us 
a strong fi nish to the year.
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Finance Director’s review
Changing and reshaping

The group has undergone signifi cant 
change since Alan Parker took over as 
Chief Executive in June 2004:

•  in July 2004 we acquired Premier 
Lodge for £505 million and a 
further 19 pub restaurant sites for 
£31.2 million. The lodges are now 
integrated in Premier Travel Inn and 
the pub restaurants in Brewers Fayre;

•  in March 2005 after the year-end, 
we announced the disposal of our 
franchised Marriott hotels business. 
Following the EGM on 22 April 
2005 we expect this transaction to 
complete on 5 May 2005;

•  with the appointment of 
Christopher Rogers as Finance 
Director on 1 May 2005 seven of 
Alan Parker’s direct reports will 
have changed.

The most immediate impact on the 
fi nancial statements comes from the 
Premier Lodge acquisition and under 
each heading we have tried to identify 
the underlying eff ect as well as the 
group total. The longer reaching impact 
will, of course, result from the changing 
management and the reshaping of the 
group following the Marriott disposal.

Year-end date
These accounts are drawn up to 
3 March 2005 and represent 52 weeks 
trading. This is fi ve fewer days than last 
year but, consistent with our practice, 
comparisons are shown year-on-year.

David Richardson
Finance Director
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The group has undergone signifi cant 
change. The most immediate impact on 
the fi nancial statements comes from 
the Premier Lodge acquisition and under 
each heading we have tried to identify the 
underlying eff ect as well as the group total.

FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

Accounting policies
Accounting policies adopted in preparing 
these accounts are consistent with the 
previous year.

Turnover
Group turnover grew by 7% year-on-year 
to £1,913 million. Of this, £80 million, 
representing year-on-year growth of 
4.5%, resulted from the acquisition of 
Premier Lodge. Underlying growth of 
2.5% was largely a function of like-for-
like sales growth, which averaged 2.6% 
across the brands. Acquisitions and 
disposals of individual sites broadly 
netted out.

Operating profi t (before exceptionals)
Operating profi t grew strongly by 11.9% 
year-on-year. Of this growth, £21 million, 
or 7.2%, came from Premier Lodge.

The underlying growth of 5% refl ects 
particularly strong growth from Travel Inn 
(as was) and high street restaurants.

Profi t margins increased from 14.8% 
to 15.5%.

Return on capital, based on year-end 
assets, reduced from 10.1% to 9.4%. 
However the profi t and loss account 
contains only seven months’ trading 
for Premier Lodge although the assets 
are fully refl ected in the balance sheet. 
Adjusting for this, return on capital grew 
from 10.1% to 10.5%.

Once again these improvements refl ect 
the focus throughout the business on 
cost control and asset management.

Operating profi t (after exceptionals)
Operating profi t grew by 4.8%.

Tax
The charge of £81.6 million against 
profi t before exceptionals represents 
a tax rate of 31% (2003/4: 32%). The 
factors aff ecting the tax charge are 
explained in note 9 to the accounts but 
the principal reason for the reduction 
year-on-year is that previous year tax 
credits have been agreed and recognised 
in the accounts.

The exceptional tax credit of £9.1 million 
is the tax relief we expect to gain as a 
result of the exceptional charges.

Shareholder returns
Basic earnings per share (EPS) were 
59.56p while adjusted EPS were 64.08p, 
an increase of 10.1% year-on-year. 
Adjusted EPS exclude exceptional items 
and goodwill amortisation.

The total dividend for the year of 25.25p 
per share represents an increase of 
13.2%. In October the Board announced 
its intention to grow dividends faster 
than earnings per share. As a result the 
full year dividend is covered 2.4 times 
by profi t before exceptionals. The fi nal 
dividend of 18.35p per ordinary share 
(as at year-end) will be paid on 8 July 
2005 to all shareholders on the register 
at the close of business on 6 May 2005. 
This will be the equivalent of 21.4p per 
New Ordinary Share following the share 
consolidation, approved at the EGM on 
22 April 2005.

The company’s share price opened the 
year at 740p and closed it at 889p. Net 
asset value per share increased over the 
year from 703p to 736p.

Exceptional items
Net exceptional costs before interest 
and tax amounted to £14.1 million. This 
amount is analysed in note 4 to the 
accounts. In essence there are four items.

We made a profi t versus book value, on 
the disposal of 11 Courtyard by Marriott 
hotels and, in view of the transaction 
with Marriott announced on 14 March, 
have written down the remaining hotels.

We also considered it prudent to provide 
£10 million against four David Lloyd 
Leisure clubs that are not currently 
performing as well as we would like.

These writedowns are both non-cash items.

The £6.5 million one-off  costs in 
Premier Travel Inn represent the 
costs of integration.

The fi nal item is the net result of 
the profi ts and losses on individual 
restaurant property disposals during 
the year amounting to approximately 
£2 million profi t.

Interest (before exceptionals)
The net interest charge rose from 
£52.2 million to £64.3 million; of this 
£17.7 million relates to the borrowings 
the group took out to purchase and 
convert Premier Lodge and the 
19 adjacent pub restaurants.

Interest rates have risen year-on-year 
but the underlying cash generation of 
the business has enabled a reduction in 
the underlying interest charge.

Net interest was covered 5.1 times by 
operating profi t but with Premier Lodge 
on a 12 month proforma basis the cover 
would fall to 4.5 times.
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Capital expenditure (£ million) 2004/5 2003/4

Hotels  – Marriott 44 41
 – Premier Travel Inn  51 37

Restaurants – Pub restaurants 77 60
 – High street restaurants  25 16

Sports, health and fi tness    59 59*

Other  5 17

Total  261 230*

* including £21 million to acquire Cannons health clubs in the Netherlands

Capital expenditure
£261 million was invested in property 
and plant compared with £230 million 
last year. This is in the range indicated 
12 months ago.

Of this amount £127 million (2003/4:
£96 million) related to the acquisition 
and development of new sites.

The current forecast is for capital 
expenditure in the range £250-275 
million for 2005/6. The majority of the 
expansionary capital will be directed to 
Premier Travel Inns, David Lloyd Leisure 
clubs and Brewers Fayres.

Cash fl ow
Overall, the group had a net cash 
outfl ow, before use of liquid resources 
and fi nancing, of £477 million after 
paying £554 million to acquire and 
develop Premier Lodge. Adjusting for 
acquisitions and disposals in both years 
the group had a net cash infl ow of 
£12 million, after investing heavily in 
organic site growth, compared with 
£46 million last year.

Divisional free cash fl ow (see table on 
page 21) rose from £268 million to 
£322 million.

Pensions
For the fi nal time the charge in the profi t 
and loss account is based on SSAP 24 
and the triennial valuation at 31 March 
2002 when the defi cits on the funds 
amounted to £64 million.

Note 7 sets out in considerable detail the 
impact of moving to FRS17 on both the 
2003/4 and 2004/5 fi nancial statements. 
The defi cits in the pension funds on this 
basis have fallen to £242 million after 
allowing for deferred tax (£346 million 
gross) from the £256 million at the start 
of the year.

Financial position
Net debt at the year-end amounted 
to £1,264 million, a rise of £471 million 
during the year principally brought 
about by the acquisition cost of 
Premier Lodge. Balance sheet gearing 
was 57% at the year-end.

At the year-end committed facilities of 
£334 million were unused. Immediately 
following the year-end, and to facilitate 
the transaction with Marriott, the 
£275 million facility was cancelled and 
a new £200 million facility taken out.

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the group has 
adequate resources to continue 
operating for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason, the going concern 
basis continues to be adopted in 
preparing the accounts.

Financial risks and treasury policies
The main fi nancial risks faced by the 
group relate to: the availability of funds 
to meet business needs; fl uctuations in 
interest rates; and the risk of default by 
a counterparty in a fi nancial transaction.

The Treasury Committee, which is 
chaired by the Finance Director, reviews 
and monitors the treasury function. The 
undertaking of fi nancial transactions of 
a speculative nature is not permitted.

The group fi nances its operations 
by a combination of internally 
generated cash fl ow, bank borrowings 
and long-term debt market issues. 
The group seeks to achieve a spread 
in the maturity of its debts.

Interest rate swaps and interest rate 
caps are used to achieve the desired 
mix of fi xed and fl oating rate debt. The 
group’s policy is to fi x or cap a proportion 
of projected net interest costs over the 
next fi ve years. This policy reduces the 
group’s exposure to the consequences 
of interest rate fl uctuations.

Interest rate risk management
At the year-end, £423 million (33%) 
of group net debt was fi xed for a 
weighted average of 6.6 years using 
fi xed rate borrowings and interest rate 
swaps. The average rate of interest on 
this fi xed rate sterling debt was 6.8%.

Based on the group’s net debt position 
at the year end, a 1% change in 
interest rates would aff ect costs by 
approximately £8 million or around 
2.5% of the 2004/5 operating profi t 
before exceptionals.
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Foreign currency risk management
At the year end, foreign currency 
borrowings amounted to £84 million. 
These borrowings provide a partial 
hedge against overseas investments.

Transaction exposures resulting  
from purchases in foreign currencies  
are normally hedged by forward  
foreign currency transactions and 
currency options.

Britannia Soft Drinks
In March 2004, we announced that the 
existing shareholders in Britannia Soft 
Drinks Limited (BSD) had signed an 
agreement with PepsiCo, which creates 
an opportunity to undertake an initial 
public offering (IPO) of BSD. In conjunction 
with the other shareholders we will 
determine the best time to realise this 
opportunity. Whitbread has a 23.75% 
shareholding in BSD.

Post Balance Sheet event
On 14 March 2005 we announced the 
intention to dispose of the whole of our 
interest in our Marriott hotels business, 
principally by way of a disposal of the 
hotel properties to a Joint Venture 
(jointly owned with Marriott) and the 
transfer of the hotel management 
to Marriott UK. The detail of this 
transaction was set out in a circular  
to shareholders dated 5 April 2005.  
The transaction was approved at the 
EGM on 22 April 2005.

Also approved at that meeting was a 
special dividend of 135p per share and 
a consolidation of shares on a 6 for 7 
basis. The special dividend will be paid 
on 20 May 2005 and the consolidation 
will become effective from 16 May 2005.

On 25 April 2005 the group announced 
that it has signed a conditional 
agreement to dispose of its German 
restaurant business. The total cash 
proceeds, including a repatriation  
of capital prior to the sale, will be  
€35.6 million, slightly in excess of book 
value. This transaction is expected to 
complete in May 2005.

David Richardson  
Finance Director

25 April 2005

Cash flow (£ million)  2004/5 2003/4 

Operating profit (pre exceptionals) 290 252
Depreciation and amortisation 143 128
Dividends received  23  21
Maintenance capex (134) (133)
Divisional free cash flow 322 268

Investment in new sites/businesses (681) (102)
Divestment of sites/businesses  65) 112 )

Divisional cash flow (294) 278

Interest and tax (119) (84)
Dividends paid ( 68) (60)
Working capital/non cash  4)  3) 

Overall (outflow)/inflow (477) 137

 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Whitbread is required to adopt IFRS for financial reporting from 2005 onwards. 
The group’s first results reported under IFRS will be the interim results for 2005/6. 
Prior to this, we will publish a set of comparable figures on an IFRS basis.

We set out below the principal areas for 2004/5 that will be affected by the  
adoption of IFRS compared with UK GAAP, based on IFRS expected to be in force  
at 2 March 2006. These standards are subject to review and endorsement by the  
EU and interpretative guidance by the IASB and are therefore subject to change.  
The information below is for illustrative purposes only and is subject to further 
review and external audit.

£ million (unaudited)

Profit earned 
for ordinary 

shareholders

 
 

Net assets
 

Share-based payments (3)  

Pension accounting* (14) (312) 

Income tax (137)

Goodwill amortisation/impairment 7 7

Dividends 55

Net reduction  (10) (387) 

*includes joint-ventures and associates.

The principles of IAS 39 require that financial instruments be measured at fair 
value. Whitbread uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates. The profit and net assets impact of this marking to 
market of financial instruments, and associated tax, has not been included above.
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Corporate responsibility
The Whitbread way

Emma Stones, the winner of the 
Environment category of Whitbread’s 
Young Achiever Awards in 2004. Emma 
played a central role on the committee 
which undertook the regeneration of 
her local park in Stockport, including 
the creation of a children’s play area. 
For details of Emma’s project see the 
corporate responsibility section of the 
company’s website. www.whitbread.co.uk
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Whitbread has built a strong reputation 
as a good corporate citizen over many years 
and is committed to taking its corporate 
responsibilities seriously, not only because 
it makes sound business sense but because 
the company also believes it has a clear 
responsibility to do so.

On my appointment to the Whitbread 
Board as Human Resources Director in 
May 2004 I also became responsible for 
Whitbread’s Corporate Responsibility 
(CR) programmes.

During 2004/5 we undertook a major 
review of the way in which our CR 
commitments are managed. A dedicated 
team was established to provide a 
platform for better coordination of 
energies and resources across the group.

We believe that corporate responsibility 
is about:

Marketplace: being the customers’ fi rst 
choice for hospitality and a favoured 
partner for suppliers; 

Environment: being committed to 
exploring new ways of reducing 
environmental impact;

Workplace: creating attractive and 
safe places to work and conditions that 
help the company become ‘Employer of 
Choice’;

Community: building strong and 
mutually benefi cial partnerships with 
communities.

The activities in the four areas are 
underpinned by the principles of the 
Whitbread Way – the way that we do 
things at Whitbread – as outlined by 
Alan Parker .

To refl ect the four key areas the CR team 
works with four business-based steering 
groups, each sponsored by a member of 
the Executive Council.

I am proud of Whitbread’s corporate 
responsibility record, and particularly 
of the progress that has been made 
in the last year. Details of some of the 
highlights can be found in the following 
report, with more in-depth information 
available on the company’s website. 
www.whitbread.co.uk

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Marketplace

During the year a senior Whitbread-wide 
Marketing Leadership Team (MLT) was 
established, to direct and coordinate 
activities relating to the company’s 
customers and suppliers. The MLT 
reports to Paula Vennells, 
Group Commercial Director.

Healthier lifestyles

Following extensive customer research, 
Whitbread off ers its customers a range 
of healthier food and drink options. 
The company’s food innovation and 
development and supply chain teams 
continue to work closely with suppliers 
to develop menus that reduce salt, sugar 
and fat content without compromising 
fl avour and customers’ enjoyment. 

A Whitbread-wide Healthier Eating 
group reviews progress and menu 
development across brands. 

David Lloyd Leisure continues to improve 
the skills and expertise of its people, 
as well as the range of facilities and 
programmes it off ers. During 2004/5, 
David Lloyd Leisure contributed to 
the Government sponsored ‘On the 
Move to 2010’ campaign, which is a 
strategic initiative of the Fitness Industry 
Association. www.fi a.org.uk

Angie Risley
Human Resources Director
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Whitbread is committed to providing 
great customer service and invests 
extensively both in employee training and 
development, and in customer research.

Food and drink safety

Whitbread operates an integrated 
‘fi eld to fork’ strategy, underpinned by 
inspections and independent audits. 
In addition, as a signatory to the 
Portman Group’s Code of Practice, 
we promote and implement sensible 
drinking policies. Details of the Code can 
be found at www.portman-group.org.uk

Ensuring accessibility 

Whitbread has invested over 
£10 million in property development 
and improvements in recent years with 
the aim that the company’s properties 
continue to meet or exceed legislative 
requirements. Whitbread strives, 
wherever practical, to ensure that 
customers with disabilities are given 
the same level of service as any other 
customer. Recent improvements include 
extra height tables to allow wheelchair 
users to sit closer to the table and 
audio induction loops to increase the 
eff ectiveness of hearing aids for the hard 
of hearing. 

Responding to customers

Whitbread is committed to providing 
great customer service and invests 
extensively both in the appropriate training 
and development of its people and in 
monitoring and responding to customer 
feedback. Across the group, customer 
feedback questionnaires and helplines 
are in place. Research is conducted on a 
regular basis, which provides independent 
measures of the company’s success in 
delivering high standards.

Premier Travel Inn operates a 100% 
satisfaction guarantee. In 2004 the 
business won the Customer Service 
Strategy of the Year award at the 
National Business Awards. 

Partnership with suppliers

Whitbread’s approach is to work in 
close partnership with its suppliers to 
assist them in developing products and 
processes that continue to help both 
partners meet their various objectives 
and to ensure long-term relationships 
and continuity of supply. 

Whitbread is committed to an ethical 
way of operating and sets out clear 
standards of behaviour in its Code of 
Business Ethics. 

Working in conjunction with CaféDirect, 
the UK’s leading Fairtrade company, 
Costa off ers its customers a Fairtrade 
option on all its coff ee and tea at 
no extra charge. Fairtrade products 
guarantee the growers a better deal 
through a fair price and better working 
conditions.

Environment
Better management of the company’s 
environmental impact in recent 
years has reduced business costs and 
improved environmental performance. 
Whitbread’s aim is to continue the 
current approach of cost reduction-
led initiatives, with consequent 
environmental gains, and at the 
same time increase awareness of 
environmental issues in the business.

Infrastructure improvements

During 2004, Whitbread established a 
single, dedicated group-wide Energy and 
Waste Management team. The team is 
responsible for improved management, 
monitoring and reporting of Whitbread’s 
energy and water usage, along with 
waste and recycling practices.

Consumption reduced

The company is focused on reducing 
energy consumption. Gas and electricity 

Highlights
•  during 2004/5 the company 

made its fi rst submission to 
Business In the Community’s 
‘Corporate Responsibility Index’ 
securing a place in the top 100;

•  accredited by National Energy 
Foundation, for work carried out 
to reduce energy consumption 
and emissions;

•  awarded a third green star 
under the government-backed 
Transport Energy Motorvate 
scheme to recognise company 
fl eets managed in an 
environmentally friendly manner;

•  runner up in Best Recycling 
Initiative at National Recycling 
Awards 2004; 

•  included in the Global 100 Most 
Sustainable Corporations list 
January 2005;

•  included in DEFRA’s Food 
Industry Sustainability Strategy 
documents which highlighted 
three Whitbread good practice 
case studies;

•  for the third consecutive year, 
David Lloyd Leisure was named 
‘Best Health and Fitness Operator’ 
in the 2005 Tommy Awards;

•  David Lloyd Leisure and 
Marriott received ROSPA Awards 
in April 2005.

For more information please see the 
corporate responsibility section of 
the Whitbread website.
www.whitbread.co.uk
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Better management of the company’s 
environmental impact in recent years 
has reduced business costs and improved 
environmental performance. 

usage were down across the group in 
2004/5, by 5.8% (4.5 million kwh) and 
1% (4.8 million kwh) respectively. This 
produced a reduction in CO2 emissions 
of 10,600 tonnes. 

For the first time, the group has 
been able to quantify overall water 
consumption. Through improved leak 
detection and repair, water saving 
measures and the introduction of 
new technologies we expect to report 
reductions going forward. During 
the year leak repair projects in pub 
restaurants reduced water consumption 
by 87,000 cubic metres.

The company has reduced CO2 emissions 
by a further 750 tonnes through improved 
efficiencies in our owned and managed 
car fleet. In addition, the latest trucks 
purchased are powered by a mixture of 
diesel and natural gas, which is Euro 4 
certified – the latest and most stringent 
European requirement for reducing 
exhaust emissions.

Recycling increased 

As a major provider of food and beverages, 
Whitbread both receives and makes 
deliveries throughout the UK which 
require careful packaging. As a result, the 
company’s greatest recycling opportunities 
are in glass bottles and cardboard where 
it has been making significant progress 
in recent years. In 2004/5 Whitbread 
recycled 1,440 tonnes of cardboard,  
up by 116%, and 3,100 tonnes of glass, 
up by 34%. The company recognises 
there is more work to do in expanding 
this area. Recycling will be a continued 
focus in the year ahead.  

Workplace
At Whitbread, there is clear recognition 
of the need to recruit and retain high 
calibre people for the company to live up 

to its customer proposition of service and 
product excellence. A great deal has been 
done over many years both to create 
attractive, rewarding places to work and 
the conditions that will help Whitbread 
become the Employer of Choice. 

Whitbread employs more than 40,000 
people, mainly in the UK, and has a 
range of policies covering such issues as 
diversity, employee wellbeing and equal 
opportunities. The company targets and 
measures employee turnover, stability 
and retention rates in each brand. 

Employee involvement

Whitbread is committed to listening to 
and involving its employees and believes 
that open and regular two-way 
communication at all levels is an essential 
part of the management process. 

All employees are asked their opinions 
via a Views survey and specific plans are 
put in place to address feedback from 
these surveys. 

Employees also have opportunities  
to express their views and receive 
information about the company at 
regular meetings with management,  
through elected representatives at 
‘Business Improvement Groups’. 

Employee Share Scheme

Nearly 1,500 Whitbread employees 
were in a position to benefit from the 
company’s employee share scheme in 
2004/5. Those who joined the scheme, 
which matured in February, received a 
collective reward of circa £2.6 million.

In November 2004, 3,506 employees 
were granted options over 1,149,817 
shares at 653p under the terms of the 
Savings-related Share Option Scheme. 
At 19 April 2005 nearly 5,500 employees 
held options over more than 3.6 million 
shares under that scheme.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

David Lloyd Leisure currently has 
12,000 children taking weekly 
swimming lessons at its clubs and 
provides the largest weekly children’s 
tennis programme in Europe with 
10,000 participants.

Working in conjunction with 
CaféDirect, the UK’s leading Fairtrade 
company, Costa offers its customers 
a Fairtrade option on all its coffee 
and tea at no extra charge.
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5 Focus on training

At Whitbread, great emphasis is placed 
on improving the skills, expertise and 
performance of employees through  
a continuing programme of training 
and development. In 2004/5, the 
company’s new e-learning training 
programmes won two of the top awards 
at the Institute of IT Training Awards. 
The programmes have so far delivered 
web-based training at both brand and 
corporate level to more than 25,000 staff.

During the year Whitbread expanded 
its award-winning Chef Modern 
Apprenticeship Programme to embrace 
additional career opportunities at outlet 
level, including waiters/waitresses, bar 
team members, receptionists, team 

Support to volunteering

Whitbread is keen to support and 
encourage volunteering as a means of 
both encouraging personal fulfilment 
and development, and in recognition of 
the important contribution volunteering 
can make to employee moral and 
motivation. The company’s Employee 
Volunteer of the Year awards, set up 
in 2003, publicly recognise and reward 
outstanding contributions. 

Payroll giving

Whitbread operates a matched funding 
and a payroll-giving scheme for its 
employees. Originally set up in 1997, the 
payroll-giving scheme was re-launched 
in July 2004. Over 6,300 employees now 
participate with annual donations set to 
reach around £500,000 in 2005. 

Health and safety

Whitbread is committed to providing a 
safe and secure environment for both its 
customers and its employees. To support 
and demonstrate this commitment:

•  health and safety is one of the key 
measures on the company’s WINcard;

•  the Chief Executive is the director 
responsible for ensuring that  
health and safety issues are 
addressed;

•  brand managing directors are 
personally committed to providing  
a strategy for embedding  
health and safety throughout  
their business;

•   each brand has a health and safety 
management plan that is reviewed 
quarterly;

•  quarterly health and safety 
performance reports are presented  
to the Board for review.

leaders and department managers. 
Across Whitbread some 900 people 
are working towards an apprenticeship 
or NVQ. Almost 500 young people 
graduated from the Junior Chef 
Academy – a collaboration between 
Whitbread and the Compass Group to 
provide chef skills. 

David Lloyd Leisure became a ‘Central 
YMCA Qualifications’ approved centre 
and its internal health and fitness 
qualifications were aligned to the 
national qualifications framework. They 
expect to support around 400 delegates 
through this programme.

The importance of health and safety to 
Whitbread is evidenced by its inclusion 
on the company’s WINcard. This means 
that health and safety is one of the key 
measures used to determine employees’ 
incentive payments.

Angie Risley with Sarah Gaughan (left), our new ‘face of Whitbread’, and Lynda Ferrin (right), winners  
of the top two categories of the Employee of the Year 2004 in the Whitbread Young Achiever Awards.
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Community
Whitbread has a long history of working 
with its community partners. The company’s 
community investment programme 
focuses on ‘helping young people 
achieve their potential’ by concentrating 
on a few carefully chosen projects that 
combine benefit to the community with 
advantages to the business.

In recent years, Whitbread has 
established a number of successful 
partnerships with young people’s 
charities and organisations. Major 
current programmes include:

Whitbread Young Achiever Awards,  
a joint venture with the Home Office’s 
Volunteering and Charitable Giving 
Unit which is supported by leading 
volunteering and young people’s 
agencies. The awards were set up to 
recognise and celebrate the outstanding 
achievements of young volunteers.  
www.whitbreadyoungachievers.co.uk; 

Whitbread Action UK, a three-year 
partnership with leading environmental 
regeneration agency, Groundwork, 
which is supported by a significant grant 
from the Lottery Fund. The programme 
was set up to train transferable skills to 
volunteers and help them make their 
communities cleaner, safer and greener.  
www.groundwork.org.uk;

The Whitbread Book Awards were 
established by the company in 1971 and 
celebrate the most enjoyable books  
of the last year by writers based in the 
UK and Ireland. The 2004 Whitbread 
Book of the Year Award winner was 
Andrea Levy for Small Island. This year 
the company joined forces with the 
National Library for the Blind to fund 
the braille transcription of two 2004 
Whitbread Award-winning books, 
including Small Island.  
www.whitbreadbookawards.co.uk;

The Whitbread Inquiry is a partnership  
of key agencies in the North West 
chaired by Sir David Ramsbotham, 
former HM Chief Inspector of Prisons.  
It was set up to establish ‘what works’  
in tackling the social exclusion of young 
people and recommend best practice;

The award-winning Whitbread 
sponsored ‘Count me in’ Calendar  
was set up to provide a platform for  
all UK charities to promote their 
awareness-raising campaigns.  
www.countmeincalendar.info

In addition to Whitbread group 
programmes, a number of the 
company’s brands also ran successful 
community projects:

David Lloyd Leisure sponsored a series 
of ‘Mile’ events to encourage ‘a million 
people to run a million miles to raise 
millions for charity’. www.greatrun.org 

Whitbread’s restaurant brands adopted  
individual Charities of the Year, including 
Brewers Fayre supporting Whizz-Kidz, 
Beefeater adopting The Association of 
Children’s Hospices and T.G.I. Friday’s 
supporting KidsOut. They have raised 
substantial amounts for each charity 
as well as awareness levels among 
customers and Whitbread people.  
www.whizz-kidz.org.uk 
www.kidsout.org.uk 
www.childhospice.org.uk

Angie Risley 
Human Resources Director

25 April 2005

Health and safety training
The company places great 
importance on providing health 
and safety support and training. 
Highlights during the year include:

•  over 2,000 team members 
trained in emergency first aid;

•  David Lloyd Leisure introduced 
an interactive training tool as 
a means of inducting all team 
members on health and safety, 
food safety and disability 
awareness;

•  132 ex Premier Lodge sites 
received safety and security 
coaching visits;

•  pub restaurants and high 
street restaurant brands ran a 
total of 35 health and safety 
workshops, training around 500 
management level employees. 
This followed a major training 
programme in the previous year;

•  in support of the training a 
number of safety manuals and 
codes of practice were reviewed 
and reissued.

For more information, see the 
Corporate Responsibility section of 
Whitbread’s website.  
www.whitbread.co.uk 

Whitbread charitable contributions – totalling over £2.2 million 
During 2004/5, Whitbread contributed more than £1.6 million to the community, 
made up of donated employee time and re-cycled furniture and equipment.  
In addition, the Whitbread Charitable Trust (WCT) made direct cash contributions  
of over £690,000. Whitbread’s employees and customers raised a further £1.3 million 
through charitable activities, including £160,000 donation to the DEC Tsunami 
Appeal, to which the WCT contributed £50,500.
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Who is on the company’s 
Board of directors?
The Board currently consists of the 
Chairman, four executive directors and 
fi ve independent non-executive directors, 
one of whom has been appointed Senior 
Independent Director. Profi les of each 
director can be found on pages 34 to 35.

How did the company arrive at the 
conclusion that fi ve of its directors 
are independent?
The Combined Code lists a number of 
circumstances which might call the 
independence of a director into question. 
No such circumstances exist for Rod 
Kent, Charles Gurassa, Lord Williamson 
or David Turner. However, Prue Leith has 
now served as a director of the company 
for more than nine years. Despite 
this the Board, having considered the 

Corporate governance
Managing responsibly

Simon Barratt
Company Secretary

nature of the contribution made by 
Prue, has determined that she remains 
independent. Prue will be stepping 
down at the 2005 Annual General 
Meeting (AGM).

What are the terms of appointment 
for independent non-executive 
directors?
Independent non-executive directors 
are initially appointed for a three-year  
term. Although in certain circumstances 
a longer term may be deemed 
appropriate, the Board has agreed a 
guideline that they should normally be 
expected to serve two three-year terms. 
Both Prue Leith and Lord Williamson 
have now served in excess of this 
guideline and will be stepping down 
at the 2005 AGM.

During the year the company’s letter of 
appointment for non-executive directors 
was reviewed and updated to take 
account of the new Combined Code. 
All new independent non-executive 
directors will sign the new letter on 
appointment.

How is the structure and 
membership of the Board 
determined?
Ultimately the company’s shareholders 
determine Board membership at the 
AGM. All new directors are required to 
stand for election at the AGM following 
their appointment and existing directors 
must stand for re-election at least every 
three years.

The Nomination Committee is 
responsible for reviewing the structure 
and membership of the Board, making 
recommendations to the Board, which 
are subsequently considered and voted 
on by shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Is there clarity between the roles of 
the Chairman and Chief Executive?
There is a clear division of responsibility 
between the Chairman and Chief 
Executive. This division is in writing 
as follows:

The Chairman is responsible for:

•  running the Board and setting its 
agenda including major decisions on 
strategy, fi nancial transactions and 
key appointments; 

•  ensuring, through the Company 
Secretary, that the members of the 
Board receive accurate, timely and 
clear information and that there is 
a good fl ow of information;

•  managing the Board to ensure 
that suffi cient time is allowed 
for the discussion of complex 
or contentious issues;

•  ensuring that the directors 
continually update their knowledge 
and capabilities;

•  ensuring that the members of the 
Board develop an understanding of 
the views of the major investors;

•  the annual evaluation of the 
performance of the Board and its 
committees.

The Chief Executive is responsible for:

•  setting the strategic direction for 
the company;

•  overseeing the day-to-day 
management of the company;

•  the line management of senior 
executives, including the other 
executive directors of Whitbread PLC 
and the Company Secretary;

The Board is of the opinion that it is of 
an appropriate size for the requirements 
of the business, it has the appropriate 
balance of skills, knowledge and 
experience and that it has a good 
balance between executive and 
independent non-executive directors.

How does the Board operate and 
what are its key responsibilities?
•  The Board met 13 times last year. 

Before each Board meeting directors 
are given timely and appropriate 
information, including monthly 
fi nancial and trading reports. The 
attendance records of individual 
directors can be found in the table 
on page 31;

•  all members of the Board take 
collective responsibility for the 
performance of the company and 
all decisions are taken objectively 
in the interests of the company;

•  a schedule of matters reserved to 
the Board includes the oversight 
of key aspects of strategy and 
management, fi nancial reporting 
and controls, the management of 
shareholder communication, as well 
as the approval of policies and major 
transactions. The schedule can be 
seen in full on the company’s website: 
www.whitbread.co.uk;

•  the Board oversees and approves 
the company’s overall strategy and 
ensures that the necessary resources 
are in place in order to meet the 
company’s objectives;

•  the Board has responsibility for 
ensuring that the company’s 
obligations to its shareholders are met.

The company is proud of its commitment to 
high standards of corporate governance. For 
the fi rst time Whitbread is required to make 
a statement on its compliance with the new 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance. In 
this report Company Secretary, Simon Barratt, 
explains the way in which the main and 
supporting principles of the Code are being 
applied on a day-to-day basis.

Angie Risley – 
the induction of a new director
Angie Risley was appointed to the 
Board on 1 May 2004. Angie had 
been with Whitbread since 1989 
so, unlike a director appointed from 
outside the company, there was no 
need to include any familiarisation 
with Whitbread in her induction. 
As the individual responsible for 
the induction of new directors, 
the Company Secretary discussed 
Angie’s requirements with her. 
As a result a tailored one-on-one 
session was arranged with 
Slaughter and May, the company’s 
legal advisers, to cover the duties 
and responsibilities of a PLC director. 
In addition, Angie has attended 
a training seminar on directors’ 
responsibilities organised by the 
Institute of Directors and a strategy 
and fi nance course at Ashridge.
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•  the activities of the Leadership Group 
– a group of approximately 90 of the 
company’s most senior executives;

•  ensuring eff ective communication 
with shareholders and employees.

How is the Board’s 
performance evaluated?
The performance of the Board, and 
individual directors’ contributions to the 
Board, are appraised annually by the 
Chairman. This year:

•  the Chairman asked each director to 
complete a formal questionnaire on 
the Board’s performance;

•  the Chairman met or spoke to each 
director on a one-to-one basis;

•  the results of the review were 
discussed by the Board and an 
appropriate action plan was agreed.

Last year the executive directors went 
through a formal evaluation process, 
undertaken by an external organisation.

The performance of the Board’s 
committees was reviewed during the 
year in line with their terms of reference.

The performance of the Chairman was 
evaluated during the year by Rod Kent, 
the Senior Independent Director, who 
discussed the Chairman’s performance 
with each of the directors. The results 
of the review were given directly to the 
Chairman by Rod Kent.

How does the company ensure 
that new directors are given 
the tools to do an eff ective job?
The Company Secretary is responsible 
for ensuring that, on appointment, 
new directors are given a formal and 
individually tailored induction. In the 
case of newly appointed non-executive 

directors this would typically include a 
number of visits to the company’s 
brands to enable a thorough 
understanding of the businesses. New 
directors are available to meet major 
shareholders if requested.

Do the directors have access 
to independent advice?
All directors have access to independent 
professional advice at the company’s 
expense. In addition, directors have 
access to the Company Secretary.

Do the directors update 
their knowledge and skills 
on a regular basis?
The Board receives a quarterly investor 
relations report which includes share 
price performance, movements in 
institutional holdings and the response 
by institutions to the communications 
programme. In addition, a representative 
of one of the company’s brokers attends 
a number of Board meetings each year 
to update the Board on the latest issues.

During the year directors attended 
training courses and seminars, or 
received tailored training, on the 
following subjects:

•  International Financial Reporting 
Standards;

•  operating and fi nancial review;

•  director’s duties and liabilities;

•  board and committee eff ectiveness;

•  corporate governance;

•  executive remuneration;

•  whistle-blowing and the audit 
committee;

•  health and safety;

•  pensions.

How do the Board interact 
with the company’s shareholders?
The company recognises the importance 
of dialogue with both institutional and 
private shareholders. 

Institutional shareholders, fund 
managers and analysts are briefed at 
regular meetings and presentations. 
In 2004/5 over 100 meetings were 
held with institutional shareholders, 
either one-to-one or as part of a larger 
grouping, both in the UK and abroad. 

The Chief Executive, Finance Director, 
investor relations team and the brand 
managing directors all play an active 
part in these meetings. Non-executive 
directors are off ered the opportunity to 
attend the meetings and would attend 
if required by major shareholders. The 
Senior Independent Director attended 
meetings with a range of major 
shareholders to listen to their views. 

Recent topics of interest to investors 
have been the acquisition of Premier 
Lodge, the business review and the 
return of capital to shareholders. 

Annual and interim results presentations 
are webcast live so that all shareholders 
can receive the same information at 
the same time. The company’s website 
provides comprehensive information for 
private shareholders and receives over 
half a million hits a year. 

Private shareholders have the 
opportunity to put questions to the 
Board at the AGM, and at all other times 
by emailing or writing to the company. 
In addition, a meeting was held with 
members of the UK Shareholders’ 
Association during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCEAttendance at meetings
 Board   Audit Remuneration Nomination
   Committee Committee Committee

Number of meetings in the year 13  3 9 4

Sir John Banham 13    4
Stewart Miller 13    
Alan Parker 13    3 (1)

David Richardson 13    
Angie Risley 10 (2)   
Bill Shannon 5 (3)

David Thomas 4 (3)   1 (3)

Charles Gurassa 13   9 4
Rod Kent 12  2 9 4
Prue Leith 10 (4) 2 8 3
David Turner 9  3 6 2
Lord Williamson 13  3 9 4
(1)  Since his appointment to the Nomination Committee Alan Parker attended all three meetings that have been held.
(2)  Angie Risley was appointed to the Board on 1 May 2004 and attended all 10 of the year’s remaining Board meetings.
(3)  Bill Shannon and David Thomas stepped down from the Board on 15 June 2004. Five Board meetings were held 

up to that date. One Nomination Committee meeting was held during the period.
(4)  Prue Leith missed three Board meetings due to ill health.

Any shareholder may contact the 
Chairman, Chief Executive or, if more 
appropriate, the Senior Independent 
Director to raise any issue, including 
those relating to strategy and 
governance. Alternatively, shareholders 
may raise any such issue with one or 
all of the non-executive directors of the 
company. The Company Secretary can 
facilitate any such communication if 
requested. 

Where can I fi nd details 
of the company’s compliance 
with the Combined Code 
in relation to remuneration?
Details of how Whitbread has applied 
the main and supporting principles of 
the new Combined Code with regard 
to remuneration can be found in the 
remuneration report on pages 38 to 
48. In addition, the table on page 32 
contains details of the membership, 
terms of reference and activities of the 
Remuneration Committee.

What board committees 
does the company have?
The table on page 32 contains 
information relating to the Audit 
Committee, the Nomination Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee.

In addition to these three committees 
the Board has delegated authority to 
the General Purposes Committee to deal 
with business of a routine nature and 
with other specifi c matters delegated to 
it by the Board. The committee is made 
up of at least two directors designated 
by the Board and meets as required.

What is the company’s fi nancial 
reporting policy?
The Board always strives to present 
a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the company’s position 
and prospects. This involves formal 
reports such as this, other price sensitive 
public reports, reports to regulators and 
any other information required by statute. 

Does the company maintain 
adequate systems of internal 
control?
The Board is responsible for the group’s 
systems of internal control and for 
reviewing their eff ectiveness. These 
are systems designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives. They 
can only provide reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Board has established an ongoing 
process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the group’s signifi cant risks. 
This process was in place throughout the 
2004/5 fi nancial year and up to the date 
of this report. The process is regularly 
reviewed by the Board and accords with 
the internal control guidance (Turnbull) 
for directors in the Combined Code.

Key elements of the company’s risk 
management and internal control 
systems include:

•  the formulation, evaluation and 
annual approval by the Board of 
business plans and budgets. Actual 
results are reported monthly against 
budget and the previous year’s 
fi gures. Key risks are identifi ed and 
action plans prepared accordingly;

The following groups also meet:

•  the Main Board Committee 
comprises the executive directors 
together with the Company 
Secretary, Simon Barratt, and meets 
twice a month in preparation for 
Board meetings;

•  the Executive Council meets 
monthly to review group / brand 
performances. It is attended by the 
executive directors, the managing 
directors of each brand and each of 
the head offi ce functional directors;

•  the Growth Committee comprises the 
Chief Executive, the Finance Director, 
the Group Development Director, 
the Company Secretary and brand 
managing directors as appropriate 
to identify and implement growth 
opportunities.

How does the company seek to 
ensure that its employees behave 
with honesty and integrity?
The company takes the view that 
corporate governance is not a matter for 
the Board or its committees alone and 
has developed a Code of Business Ethics, 
which is briefed annually to employees. 
This covers dealings with customers, 
suppliers and government offi cials; 
safeguarding the company’s assets; 
keeping accurate and reliable records; 
and avoiding confl icts of interest. Its 
principal message is that all employees 
must observe a code of conduct based 
on honesty, integrity and fair dealing. 

In addition, the company has a formal 
whistle-blowing policy. Under the 
policy employees are able to speak to 
an independent organisation and any 
signifi cant fi nancial or control issues 
would then be brought to the attention 
of the Chief Executive and Company 
Secretary and reported to the Audit 
Committee.
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Board committees

Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee

Chairman David Turner Sir John Banham Charles Gurassa

Members of 
Committee

Rod Kent 
Prue Leith 
David Turner 
Lord Williamson 

Charles Gurassa 
Rod Kent 
Prue Leith 
Alan Parker 
David Turner 
Lord Williamson

Rod Kent 
Prue Leith 
David Turner 
Lord Williamson

Summary of key 
issues dealt with 
during the year

The committee’s main focus 
during the year was on:

•  group and brand internal 
controls;

•  approval of financial 
statements for the full  
and half year;

•  review of the effectiveness 
of the internal and external 
audit functions;

•  introduction of IFRS;  

•  auditors’ independence;

•  operational audit plans  
and outcome of reviews.

During the year the 
committee’s main area of 
activity was Board succession. 
This included the selection of:

•  Anthony Habgood as the  
new Chairman;

•  Christopher Rogers as the 
new Finance Director.

In proposing these 
appointments the committee, 
or sub-committee, produced 
job specifications, appointed 
advisers and carried out 
interviews. Following this 
process final recommendations 
were made to the Board.

In addition, the committee 
has given consideration to 
the future appointment of 
independent non-executive 
directors.

During the year the committee 
dealt with:

•  the implications of the 
Pensions Act 2004;

•  the introduction of the 
Leadership Group Incentive 
Scheme;

•  remuneration packages for 
newly appointed members  
of the Executive Council;

•  remuneration of the  
executive directors.

The full terms of reference of all three committees can be found on the company’s website and are also available by requesting a copy in writing  
from the Company Secretary. 
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•  the production by each business 
of an annual risks and controls 
matrix, covering major risks and 
plans to mitigate those risks. These 
matrices are considered by the Audit 
Committee;

•  a regular review by the Board of •  a regular review by the Board of •  a regular review
changes in the major risks facing 
the group and development of the 
appropriate action plans;

•  the Treasury Committee, which 
reviews treasury activities monthly. 
The committee is chaired by the 
Finance Director. Treasury activities 
are conducted in accordance with 
detailed procedures and mandates;

•  the consideration of risks and the 
appropriate action plans, when 
appraising and approving all 
major capital and revenue projects 
and change programmes. A post 
completion review of each major 
project is undertaken;

•  fi nancial policies, controls and 
procedures manuals, which are 
regularly reviewed and updated;

•  the limits of authority, which are limits of authority, which are limits of authority
prescribed for employees. Whitbread’s 
organisational structure allows the 
appropriate segregation of tasks;

•  the Code of Business Ethics, which 
is communicated annually to 
employees and details of which can 
be found on page 31;

•  the operational audit function, 
which reports on the eff ectiveness 
of operational and fi nancial controls 
across the group;

•  the Audit Committee regularly reviews 
the major fi ndings from both internal 
and external audit. Further details 
can be found in the table on page 32.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has carried out a specifi c 
assessment of the group’s systems of 
internal control for the purpose of this 
annual report. The Audit Committee has 
assisted the Board in discharging these 
responsibilities.

Do the members of the Audit 
Committee have recent and relevant 
fi nancial experience?
The Board considers that the 
membership of the Audit Committee 
as a whole has suffi cient recent 
and relevant fi nancial experience to 
discharge its functions, but it has 
determined not to identify any single 
member as having such experience.

Has the company formally 
reviewed its corporate governance 
performance during the year?
The Company Secretary produced a 
review of the company’s corporate 
governance procedures, which was 
considered by the Board in December 
2004. The aim of the review was to 
consider whether the company was in 
compliance with the new Combined 
Code. The Board agreed that the 
company was in compliance with the 
Code at the date of the review. It is 
intended that the company will be in a 
position to report full compliance with 
the Combined Code for 2005/6.

Has the company complied 
throughout the year with the 
provisions of the Combined Code?
The company has complied throughout 
the year with the provisions set out in 
Section 1 of the Combined Code with 
the following exceptions: 

•  at the beginning of the fi nancial year 
the executive directors’ contracts 
contained notice periods in excess of 
one year. All of the executive directors 
agreed to reduce the notice periods 
in their contracts to twelve months 
in May 2004. The company is now 
therefore in compliance with the 
Combined Code in this regard (B1.6);

•  for the period between 1 May 2004 
and 15 June 2004 the balance of 
the Board was such that more than 
half of the directors (excluding the 
Chairman) were not independent. 
This followed the appointment of 
Angie Risley as a director. However, 
David Thomas and Bill Shannon 
stepped down from the Board at the 
AGM in 2004. Since this time more 
than 50% of the Board (excluding the 
Chairman) has been independent 
(A3.2).

Simon Barratt
Company Secretary

25 April 2005



PA
G

E 
34

 
W

h
it

b
re

a
d 

PL
C

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

ep
or

t 
a

n
d

 A
cc

ou
n

ts
 2

00
4/

5

Board of directors:  
The biographical details  
of the Board of directors at 
the end of the financial year  
are shown below. Whitbread 
is also delighted that two  
new directors will join  
the Board on 1 May 2005.

Sir John Banham 
Position: Chairman (since June 2000)

Appointment to the Board: November 1999
Age: 64

Committee Membership: Nomination (Chairman)
External Appointments: Geest PLC (Chairman), Amvescap PLC (Senior Independent Director) 

Cyclacel Group Ltd (Chairman), ECI Ventures LLP (Chairman)
Previous Experience: Became the first controller of the Audit Commission in 1983 

Appointed Director General of the CBI in 1987

 Chairman of both Kingfisher PLC and Tarmac PLC during the 1990s as well as being 
the first Chairman of the Local Government Commission for England and founding 
Chairman of West Country Television

Rod Kent 
Position: Senior Independent Director (since April 2003) 

Also Chairman of Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited
Appointment to the Board: September 2002

Age: 57
Committee Membership: Audit, Nomination and Remuneration

External Appointments:  Bradford & Bingley PLC (Chairman), Close Brothers Group (Non-executive director) 
Esmée Fairbairn Foundation (Trustee), Grosvenor Ltd (Chairman) 
Grosvenor Group Holdings (Non-executive director)

Previous Experience: Gained extensive investment banking experience as Managing Director  
of Close Brothers Group until October 2002 

Previously Chairman of the M&G Group PLC

Charles Gurassa 
Position: Independent non-executive director

Appointment to the Board: July 2000
Age: 49

Committee Membership: Nomination, Remuneration (Chairman)
External Appointments: Whizzkidz Limited (Trustee) 

Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) PLC (Chairman) 
Worldwide Excellerated Leasing Ltd (Chairman) 
7days Ltd (Chairman)

Previous Experience: Has significant knowledge and experience in the travel and tourism industry,  
having been Chief Executive of Thomson Travel Group PLC and a director of TUI AG

Prue Leith
Position: Independent non-executive director

Appointment to the Board: September 1995
Age: 65

Committee Membership: Audit, Nomination, Remuneration
External Appointments: Woolworths Group PLC (Non-executive director), Omega International Group PLC 

(Non-executive director), Compass Group Foundation (Director) 
Ashridge Consulting Limited (Director) 
Ashridge Strategic Management Centre (Director)

Previous Experience: Gained extensive knowledge and experience in contract catering  
and restaurant management as the founder of Leith’s Limited

Previously Non-executive director of Safeway PLC and Halifax PLC

David Turner
Position: Independent non-executive director

Appointment to the Board: January 2001
Age: 60

Committee Membership: Audit (Chairman), Nomination, Remuneration
External Appointments: Brambles Industries Group (Chief Executive)

Previous Experience: Finance Director of GKN PLC

Brings significant financial expertise to the company, both as a member  
of the Board and as Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Alan Parker 
Position: Chief Executive (since June 2004)

Appointment to the Board: May 2000
Age: 58

External Appointments: VisitBritain (Director), British Hospitality Association (Council Chairman) 
University of Surrey (Visiting Professor), World Travel & Tourism Council (Director)

Previous Experience: Managing Director of Crest Hotels Europe, based in Frankfurt 
Senior Vice-President of Holiday Inn Europe, Middle East and Africa, based in Brussels

Joined Whitbread in 1992 as Managing Director of Whitbread Hotel Company

David Richardson 
Position: Finance Director (since March 2001)

Appointment to the Board: May 1996
Age: 53

External Appointments:  Serco Group PLC (Non-executive director and Audit Committee Chairman) 
Member of Tourism Review and Implementation Group 
Dairy Crest Group plc (Non-executive director)

Previous Experience: Qualified as an accountant with Touche Ross, before moving to ICL

Joined Whitbread in 1983. Became Strategic Planning Director in 1993, before 
becoming Finance Director

Stewart Miller 
Position: Managing Director, David Lloyd Leisure (since May 2001)

Appointment to the Board: May 2000
Age: 52

External Appointments: Fitness Industry Association (Director) 
Skills Active UK (Director)

Previous Experience: Joined Whitbread in 1981

Roles have included Managing Director of both Whitbread Pub Partnerships and 
Whitbread Pubs & Bars as well as Chief Executive of Pizza Hut (UK)

Angie Risley  
Position: Human Resources Director

Appointment to the Board: 1 May 2004
Age: 46

External Appointments: Member of Low Pay Commission

Previous Experience: Joined Whitbread in 1989 as Human Resources Director of Pizza Hut (UK) 

Roles have included Human Resources Director of Whitbread Hotel Company  
and Whitbread Restaurants 

Lord Williamson 
Position: Independent non-executive director

Appointment to the Board: May 1998
Age: 70

Committee Membership: Audit, Nomination, Remuneration
External Appointments: Active member of the House of Lords

Previous Experience: Has significant civil service experience, having held a number of key posts: 
Deputy Director General for Agriculture at the European Commission (1977-1983) 
Head of the European Secretariat, UK Cabinet Office (1983-1987) 
Secretary-General of the European Commission (1987-1997)
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Board of directors: 
Anthony Habgood and Christopher Rogers 
will join the Board on 1 May 2005.  
Initially Anthony will join as an 
independent non-executive director,  
before taking over as Chairman when  
Sir John Banham retires in August. 
Christopher will succeed David Richardson 
as Finance Director.

Anthony Habgood
Anthony (aged 58) will join Whitbread  
as an independent non-executive 
director before taking over as Chairman 
in August 2005. His appointment to the 
Board will take effect from 1 May 2005 
and he will stand for election at the 
AGM on 14 June 2005.

Anthony is one of the UK’s most  
respected business leaders and will  
bring a wealth of experience to the role. 
He is currently Chairman of Bunzl PLC 
and is also a non-executive director of 
Marks & Spencer plc and SVG Capital plc.

Christopher Rogers
Christopher (aged 45) joins Whitbread 
as Finance Director from Woolworths 
Group PLC where he held the same 
position. His appointment will take 
effect from 1 May 2005 and he will 
stand for election at the 2005 AGM.

After qualifying as an accountant with 
Price Waterhouse, Christopher joined 
Kingfisher PLC as Group Corporate 
Finance Manager in 1988. Subsequent 
appointments included Group Financial 
Controller at Kingfisher PLC, Finance 
Director at Comet Group plc, and then 
four years as Commercial Director  
at Comet. 
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Principal activities and review  
of the business
A detailed review of the company’s 
activities, the development of its 
businesses, and an indication of likely 
future developments are given on pages 
6 to 17.

Results and dividends 
Group profit before tax 
and exceptional items £263.5m

Group profit before tax  
and after exceptional items £249.4m

Interim dividend  
paid on  
4 January 2005 6.90p per share

Recommended  
final dividend 18.35p per share

Total dividend  
for the year 25.25p per share

The final dividend will be payable on  
8 July 2005 to shareholders on the register 
at the close of business on 6 May 2005. 
In October the Board announced its 
intention to grow dividends faster than 
earnings per share. As a result the full 
year dividend is covered 2.4 times by 
profit before exceptionals.

Shareholders may participate in a 
dividend reinvestment plan, under which 
their cash dividend is used to purchase 
additional shares in the company. 
Further details can be found on page 79.

Board of directors
The directors at the end of the financial 
year are listed on pages 34 and 35. With 
the exception of Angie Risley, who was 
appointed to the Board on 1 May 2004, 
all of these directors served throughout 
the financial year. David Thomas and  
Bill Shannon stepped down following 
the AGM on 15 June 2004. In addition, 
Whitbread has announced the 
appointment of two new directors, 
Anthony Habgood and Christopher 
Rogers with effect from 1 May 2005 and 
their biographical details can be found 
on the opposite page.

Anthony Habgood and Christopher 
Rogers will stand for election and 
Charles Gurassa, Rod Kent and 

David Turner will stand for re-election  
at the forthcoming AGM in accordance 
with the company’s Articles of 
Association. Prue Leith and Lord 
Williamson will step down from the 
Board immediately following the AGM.

Details of directors’ service contracts  
are given on page 41. None of the  
non-executive directors have a  
service contract.

Details of the directors’ interests in shares 
of Whitbread PLC are shown in the 
remuneration report on pages 38 to 48.

Share capital
Throughout the year, the authorised 
share capital was £315 million divided 
into 630 million ordinary shares of 50p 
each. However at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting on 22 April 2005, 
shareholders approved a share 
consolidation. As a result, with effect 
from 16 May 2005, the authorised 
share capital will change to £315 million 
divided into 540 million shares of 581/3p 
each. Details of the issued share capital 
can be found in note 25 in the notes to 
the accounts. 

Major interests
As at 19 April 2005, the company had been 
notified of the following major interests:

 No of   % of issued 
 shares share capital

AXA S.A.  54,798,208 18.31
L&G IML* 20,800,742 6.95
Lloyds TSB 10,258,163 3.43

* Legal & General Investment Management Ltd

Supplier payment policy 
The group keeps to the payment terms 
which have been agreed with suppliers. 
Where payment terms have not been 
specifically agreed, it is the group’s 
policy to settle invoices close to the end 
of the month following the month of 
invoicing. The group’s ability to keep to 
these terms is dependent upon suppliers 
sending accurate and adequately 
detailed invoices to the correct address 
on a timely basis. The group had 37 days 
purchases outstanding at 3 March 2005, 
based on the trade creditors outstanding 
at that date and purchases made during 
the year.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed  
their willingness to continue in office  
as auditors of the company and a 
resolution proposing their re-appointment 
will be put to shareholders at the AGM. 
After proper consideration, the Audit 
Committee is satisfied that the 
company’s auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, 
continue to be objective and independent 
of the company. In coming to this 
conclusion the Audit Committee gave 
full consideration to the non-audit work 
carried out by Ernst & Young LLP.

The Audit Committee has considered 
what work should not be carried out 
by the external auditors and have 
concluded that certain services including 
internal audit, acquisition due diligence 
and IT consulting services will not be 
carried out by Ernst & Young LLP.

Purchase of own shares
The company is authorised to purchase, 
in the market, the company’s own 
shares. Although no such purchases 
have been made during the year, 
approval to renew this authority for 
a further year will be sought from 
shareholders at the 2005 AGM.

Annual General Meeting 
The AGM will be held at 2.00pm on  
14 June 2005 at The Queen Elizabeth II 
Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary, 
Westminster, London SW1P 3EE. The 
Notice of Meeting is enclosed with this 
report and is accompanied by a letter 
from the Chairman.

The directors are taking the opportunity 
to amend the Articles of Association of 
the company at this year’s AGM. The 
Articles were last amended in June 2001. 
The amendments reflect current 
legislation and practice. Full details of 
the main amendments are contained in 
the explanatory notes to the Notice of 
the AGM.

By order of the Board

Simon Barratt 
Company Secretary

25 April 2005

Registered office:
Whitbread House, Park Street West, 
Luton LU1 3BG

Registered in England: No. 4120344

The directors present their report and accounts  
for the year ended 3 March 2005.

Directors’ report
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Remuneration report

Introduction
Whitbread’s continued success is 
dependent on the skills and enthusiasm 
of the people who work in our businesses. 
This report focuses on directors’ 
remuneration, but the principles 
which form the basis of the company’s 
remuneration policy apply to all the 
managers of Whitbread’s businesses.

In 2004 we introduced the Whitbread 
Leadership Group Incentive Scheme, 
which was successfully implemented 
during the year. This is described in more 
detail in this report. I am pleased to 
report that the scheme has been well 
received by its participants. 

In view of the proposed changes by 
the Treasury to pensions legislation 
we are reviewing the status of senior 
management pensions to ensure that 
there will be appropriate choices for 
our executives going forward at no 
additional cost to the company. 

By ensuring that our employees are 
fairly and appropriately incentivised 
and rewarded we believe that they will 
continue to deliver outstanding service 
to our customers and value to our 
shareholders.

The committee has appointed New 
Bridge Street Consultants LLP and 
Towers Perrin, who are independent 
remuneration consultants, to provide 
specialist advice. They provide no other 
types of service to the Whitbread group. 
New Bridge Street Consultants LLP, 
together with Slaughter and May, advise 
the company on the implementation of 
the committee’s policy decisions.

The committee receives internal advice 
from Sir John Banham, Chairman of 
Whitbread, and Angie Risley, Human 
Resources Director. The secretary to  
the committee is Simon Barratt.  
Where appropriate, the committee also  
receives input from the Chief Executive,  
Finance Director and Pensions Director.

This report of the Remuneration Committee, which has been approved by the Board, states  
Whitbread’s remuneration policy and details the remuneration of the directors for 2004/5.  
This remuneration report will be the subject of a shareholder resolution to be proposed at the AGM.

Charles Gurassa 
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Part 3 of Schedule 7a of the Companies 
Act 1985 requires that certain parts of 
the remuneration report are audited. 
Throughout this report those sections that 
have been audited are marked clearly as 
‘audited information’ for the sake of clarity.

Contents of this Report

Introduction from Charles Gurassa

Remuneration Committee and  
its advisers

Remuneration policy

Directors’ service contracts

Non-executive directors 

Fees from external directorships

 Directors’ remuneration in 2004/5 
(various tables) 

My colleagues and I on the Remuneration 
Committee will continue to monitor the 
appropriateness of our remuneration 
packages, to ensure that they are fit  
for purpose. 

Remuneration Committee  
and its advisers
The committee recommends to the 
Board the specific remuneration 
packages for the Chairman, the 
executive directors and other members 
of the Executive Council. In addition 
it reviews the remuneration structure 
for all other senior executives. During 
2004/5 the committee met nine times;  
details of the directors’ attendance 
can be found on page 31. All of its 
recommendations to the Board  
were accepted.

The terms of reference of the committee 
are available on the company’s website 
at www.whitbread.co.uk. A copy may 
also be requested by writing to the 
Company Secretary.
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Performance graph
The graph on the right shows the 
percentage change in total shareholder 
return (TSR) (with dividends reinvested) 
in the holdings of the company’s shares 
against a hypothetical holding of shares 
in the FTSE Leisure and Hotels Sector 
Index over a five year period.

The FTSE Leisure and Hotels Sector Index 
has been chosen because it represents 
an appropriate market index in which 
the company is a constituent member.

Remuneration Policy

The company’s policy for directors’ 
remuneration for 2005/6 and subsequent 
financial years is that the overall 
package will be sufficiently competitive 
to attract, retain and motivate 
high calibre executives. They will be 
expected to have the skills, expertise 
and enthusiasm to achieve the group’s 
objectives and to enhance shareholder 
value. Such remuneration packages 
will reflect their personal contribution 
and the company’s overall success. The 
committee recognises the importance 
of having a significant proportion of 
an executive’s remuneration being 
linked to performance. Further, in order 
to promote retention and sustained 
corporate performance, the balance 
between short-term and long-term 
rewards is important.

The following comprised the 
components of the remuneration  
of executive directors:

Base salary

Base salaries are reviewed annually 
against similar positions within UK 
leisure, hotel and retail companies of  
a similar market profile and against a 
pan-sectoral group of companies with  
a similar capitalisation and turnover to 
the business for which the director is 
responsible. Before awarding any base 
salary increase to directors, careful 
consideration is given to trading 
circumstances across the whole group 
and to average salary increases for 
Whitbread employees as a whole.  
The policy is to pay appropriate market 
rates but the Remuneration Committee 
acknowledges that flexibility is required 
in order to recruit and retain key executives.

Benefits
Life assurance and private health  
cover are core benefits provided to  
all executives. Non-core benefits, for 
which cash alternatives are available,  
are family health cover and a fully 
expensed company car. Limited 
discounts on company products  
are also provided in line with those  
given to all Whitbread employees.

Pensions
During 2004/5 all of the executive 
directors were entitled to a pension 
from the Whitbread Group Pension 
Fund, which is a defined benefit pension 
scheme. A summary of this scheme is 
given on page 43 below the pension 
entitlements table.

The final salary section of this pension 
scheme was closed to new entrants, 
including directors on 31 December 
2001. All new recruits after that date 
are offered participation in the defined 
contribution section of the scheme. 
For executive directors, the first being 
Christopher Rogers, the company will 
contribute at the rate of 25% of the 
director’s base salary.

In response to the Treasury’s proposals to 
reform pension provision in April 2006, 
the Remuneration Committee is in the 
process of reviewing its policy on future 
pension provision. A full explanation 
of its conclusions will be given in next 
year’s report, but the principles that have 
been the foundation for this review are:

•  the company will not be meeting any 
increased tax burden of the executives 
arising as a result of these reforms;

•  no advance payments will be 
made to pension funds prior to the 
introduction of these reforms;

•  a limited number of choices will be 
offered to executives on how they 
wish to provide for their retirement. 
These choices will be offered to all 
executives;

•  any change in arrangements will be 
at worst cost-neutral for Whitbread;

•  where possible, Whitbread should 
mitigate its balance sheet risk on 
existing pension obligations and 
limit its exposure on any future 
commitments.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The Remuneration Committee 
comprises:
Charles Gurassa (Chairman)

Rod Kent

Prue Leith

David Turner

Lord Williamson

All of the above individuals are 
independent non-executive directors.

Remuneration policy
The following chart shows the 
weightings attached to fixed 
and variable pay and the balance 
between short-term and long-term 
rewards at on target performance.
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Growth in the value of a hypothetical 
£100 holding over five years between 
March 2000 and March 2005 compared 
to the FTSE Leisure and Hotels sector 
based on 30 trading day average values.

fixed base 
salary 42%

variable  
short-term cash 
bonus 10%

variable 
long-term 
deferred 
equity 21%

variable 
long-term 
LTIP 27%

Historical TSR Performance 



PA
G

E 
40

 
W

h
it

b
re

a
d 

PL
C

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

ep
or

t 
a

n
d

 A
cc

ou
n

ts
 2

00
4/

5

Remuneration report

Whitbread Leadership Group 
Incentive Scheme
The Whitbread Leadership Group 
Incentive Scheme was implemented 
during 2004/5.

The policy objectives of this scheme are:

•  to provide a clear link between 
performance and reward, in order to 
motivate key executives;

•  to place a greater emphasis on equity 
rewards promoting alignment with 
shareholders’ interests;

•  to promote retention by deferring a 
significant part of the rewards.

The Whitbread Leadership Group 
Incentive Scheme applies to 
approximately 90 executives. This 
reflects the Remuneration Committee’s 
desire to have a coherent and universal 
remuneration structure. Clearly, the 
levels of rewards are graduated to reflect 
levels of responsibility. 

Structure

Three types of awards can be made 
under the scheme following the end 
of the financial year, all of which are 
performance related. These are:

•  a cash bonus that is immediately 
payable;

•  an award over Whitbread shares 
known as deferred equity, which will 
normally vest three years later provided 
that the executive remains employed 
by the Whitbread Group; 

•  an award over Whitbread shares 
under the Long Term Incentive Plan 
(LTIP), which will under normal 
circumstances vest three years after 
the date of grant provided that the 
individual remains an employee and  
a TSR performance target (described 
in more detail below) is satisfied. 

Levels of award

The normal levels of cash bonus, 
deferred equity and LTIP awards payable 
under the Plan to executive directors at 
different levels of performance are:

Below 
threshold

Nil

Threshold
10% cash 
20% deferred equity 
25% LTIP award

On target
22.5% cash 
50% deferred equity 
62.5% LTIP award

Stretch*
55% cash 
100% deferred equity 
125% LTIP award

*  the bonus amounts shown are the 
maximum amounts, even where the 
performance exceeds stretch.

The percentages in the table are 
expressed as a percentage of the base 
salaries. A straight-line will operate 
between the above levels  
of performance.

Threshold will be the minimum target  
at which rewards will be earned. 
Targeted level of performance will be 
consistent with budgeted performance, 
and stretch will be significantly beyond 
budget.

In addition, a maximum of 20% of salary 
cash bonus will be payable for meeting 
personal objectives. In 2005/6 the 
objectives will be based on the WINcard 
(see page 9 for details) with the 
measures being like-for-like sales growth, 
profit growth, brand standards, guest 
recommendations, employee retention 
and health and safety. These personal 
objectives apply to all management 
throughout the company, as well as the 
executive directors. The targets are set 
at the beginning of each financial year 
and, for directors, reviewed and 
approved by the Remuneration 
Committee after the year-end.

Performance conditions

The performance condition for the 
annual cash and deferred equity payable 
under the Leadership Group Incentive 
Scheme is economic profit. Economic 
profit is operating profit less a cost of 
capital charge.

Each year the Board sets a series  
of economic profit targets for the group 
and for each brand within the group. 
For executive directors with group-wide 
responsibility, the economic profit target 
will relate to the group as a whole. For 
directors with divisional responsibility,  
a minimum of 20% of their rewards  
will be based on a group economic profit 
target and the balance on an economic 
profit target relating to their division. 
The profit targets are set according  
to the commercial strategy of the 
company at the start of the financial 
year under review.

At the end of the financial year, the 
economic profit results are calculated 
and the Remuneration Committee 
assesses each director against the  
pre-determined targets. The value of the 
rewards is calculated and independently 
verified for the committee by New 
Bridge Street Consultants LLP. 

For 2004/5, the economic profit results 
for the group and the brands compared 
to the performance levels were such that 
six brands were below threshold, two 
brands achieved stretch and the group 
was between threshold and on target.

For LTIP awards, the Remuneration 
Committee agreed to use a relative TSR 
to determine pay-out levels because it 
closely aligns the interests of executives 
to those of shareholders.
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The comparator group comprises 
constituents of the FTSE All Share Leisure 
and Hotels Sector Index, which are 
regarded as the most appropriate given 
the business mix and strategy of the 
company. Performance will be measured 
over three financial years following the 
financial year for which the award is 
made. Averaging will take place over  
a three month period before the start 
and end of the performance period to 
reduce the impact of short-term share 
price fluctuations.

The vesting schedule for any grants 
made after June 2004 is:

Position at 
which the 
company is 
ranked

Vesting schedule

Upper quartile 
and above Full vesting

Between 
median and 
upper quartile

Pro rata on a 
straight-line 
between quarter 
and full vesting

Median Quarter vests
Below median None

For the LTIP awards that vested on  
1 March 2005, i.e. those awards granted 
in 2002, the performance condition 
was met in full. The comparator group 
comprised 20 comparators at the time 
of measurement and Whitbread was 
ranked fourth, which is in the upper 
quartile. This was the second year in a 
row that the company was ranked in 
the upper quartile and the LTIP awards 
vested in full.

Directors – service contracts

The Remuneration Committee’s policy is 
that all executive directors should have 
rolling contracts of employment with 
notice periods of 12 months.

David Thomas retired from the company 
on 15 June 2004 and Bill Shannon 
stepped down from the Board by mutual 
consent on the same day. As disclosed 
in last year’s Annual Report Bill received 
payments based on 12 months salary, 
benefits and pension entitlement.

The commencement dates for the 
contracts are as follows:

Stewart Miller 1 May 1990

Angie Risley 1 May 1990

Alan Parker 1 September 1992

David 
Richardson 1 November 1993

Former directors

Bill Shannon 1 December 1993

David Thomas 31 March 1993

Chairman’s agreement
The Chairman, Sir John Banham, has a 
letter of appointment which commenced 
on 21 June 2000 and has a one-year 
notice period. This contract explicitly 
states that any salary increase will not 
exceed the average increase paid to the 
UK employees of the Whitbread group. 

Sir John Banham will step down both  
as Chairman and Board director on  
1 August 2005. His letter of appointment 
is available for inspection at the 
company’s registered office. 

Non-executive directors
The dates of the letters of appointment 
for non-executive directors are set out 
below and are available for inspection at 
the company’s registered office:

Prue Leith 14 September 1995

Lord Williamson 11 May 1998

Charles Gurassa 26 July 2000

David Turner 3 January 2001

Rod Kent 30 August 2002

Rod Kent, Charles Gurassa and David 
Turner will retire by rotation at the 2005 
AGM and offer themselves for re-election. 
Anthony Habgood will stand for election 
at the meeting.

Prue Leith and Lord Williamson have 
decided to step down following the AGM.

Fees for non-executive directors are 
reviewed annually by the Board. The 
composition of annual fees agreed in 
April 2005 is as follows:

Base fee £45,000

Chair of Audit or 
Remuneration 
Committee £10,000

Senior 
independent 
director £10,000

Rod Kent will also receive a fee of £20,000 
per annum for acting as Chairman of 
Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited.

Fees from external directorships
Subject to the Board’s approval, 
executive directors may accept  
non-executive directorships and  
other relevant appointments outside  
the company provided this will not  
adversely affect their ability to  
perform their duties. 

Executive directors may retain up to 
half the fees received from external 
appointments. The balance is donated 
to charity.

During the year the executive directors 
retained fees from external directorships 
as follows:

David Richardson £19,125*

Bill Shannon £5,106*

* for the period to 15 June 2004

REMUNERATION REPORT
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Remuneration report

Directors’ remuneration for the year to 3 March 2005 (audited information)

Basic Taxable Performance related Total excluding pensions

salary benefits payments (1) 2004/5 2003/4

 £  £ £ £ £

Chairman
Sir John Banham 191,180 7,822 – 199,002 197,914
Executive directors
Stewart Miller 299,643 21,445 96,688 417,776 417,841
Alan Parker 503,105 30,186 535,917 1,069,208 461,411
David Richardson 355,184 12,893 386,260 754,337 651,284
Angie Risley 209,123 18,001 261,709 488,833 –
Bill Shannon 120,799 (2) 9,743 18,688 149,230 1,149,688
David Thomas 190,129 9,004 51,352 250,485 1,401,050
Non-executive directors
Charles Gurassa (3) 39,167 – – 39,167 34,167
Rod Kent (4) 34,167 – – 34,167 29,500
Prue Leith 34,167 – – 34,167 29,500
David Turner (5) 39,167 – – 39,167 34,167
Lord Williamson 34,167 – – 34,167 29,500

Total emoluments for the year were £3,509,706. The total for 2003/4 was £4,436,022.
(1)  As explained in the Annual Report and Accounts 2003/4 the annual incentive arrangements which were put in place for senior executives for the 2004/5 

financial year included a cash element, a deferred equity element and an LTIP element. The performance related payment figures in the table include all 
three of these elements. The LTIP element is conditional on the achievement of the TSR targets described on page 41. 

(2)  Bill Shannon also received a payment of £587,300 for the early termination of his service agreement and £162,000 to enhance his pension as disclosed in 
the 2003/4 Annual Report.

(3) Includes fees as chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 
(4) In addition to these fees Rod Kent received £12,500 as chairman of Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited. 
(5) Includes fees as chairman of the Audit Committee.  

Remuneration of Christopher Rogers, Finance Director designate
Christopher Rogers will succeed David Richardson on 1 May 2005 as Finance Director. He will be standing for election as a director at 
the 2005 AGM, and accordingly, we are voluntarily disclosing details of his remuneration so that shareholders can make an informed 
decision. Christopher will be entitled to a basic salary of £375,000 per annum, and an employer pension contribution to a tax-approved 
defined contribution pension scheme of 25% of basic salary up to the Inland Revenue earnings cap (currently £105,600), together with 
a non-pensionable salary supplement (subject to tax and National Insurance) of 25% of basic salary in excess of that cap. In addition 
he will be entitled to the same benefits as the other executive directors as described on page 39. It is intended that Christopher will 
receive a one-off grant of an option over 50,000 ordinary shares under the Executive Share Option Schemes.

Anthony Habgood, Chairman designate
Anthony Habgood will join the Board on 1 May 2005 and will take over as Chairman on 1 August 2005. He will be standing for election 
at the 2005 AGM and we are therefore making a voluntary disclosure of the terms of his appointment. Anthony will be entitled to an 
annual payment of £250,000.

Executive directors’ pension entitlements (audited information)

  

Accumulated  
accrued benefits  

3 March 2005  
£

Increase in accrued 
benefits during  

the year  
£  

Increase, before 
inflation, in accrued 

benefits during  
the year  

£  

Transfer value of 
increase, before 

inflation, less  
any directors’ 
contributions 

 £

 *

Stewart Miller 149,016 11,013 6,597 79,719
Alan Parker 208,333 94,361 90,714 1,488,477
David Richardson 181,415 16,038 10,746 221,272
Angie Risley 88,137 24,259 22,215 218,453 

Former directors        

Bill Shannon 161,240 (31,365) (37,529) N/A
David Thomas 311,125 (65,949) (78,015) N/A
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The transfer value* of each director’s accrued benefits at the end of the financial year is as follows:

   
3 March 2005 

£
4 March 2004  

£

Movement less  
any directors’ 
contributions 

 £

 

Stewart Miller 1,798,348 1,458,650 339,698
Alan Parker 3,417,945 1,717,355 1,700,590
David Richardson 3,727,603 3,390,466 337,137
Angie Risley 866,853 549,576 315,571

Former directors      

Bill Shannon 3,558,903 3,853,762 (294,859)
David Thomas 5,952,246 6,820,822 (868,576)

* Transfer values represent a liability of the pension fund, not a sum paid or due to the individual.

In addition to the above benefit, Alan Parker has an entitlement in respect of a transfer value received from a previous employer’s 
pension scheme. The accrued entitlement at 3 March 2005 was £78,472 per annum (£46,658 per annum at 4 March 2004) and the 
transfer value was £1,283,762 (£700,048 at 4 March 2004).

Bill Shannon and David Thomas both retired and commenced drawing their pensions during the year. As both directors commuted 
part of their pension for tax free cash sums in accordance with the scheme rules, their accrued benefits fell during the year.

As explained above, all of the present executive directors are entitled to a defined benefit pension under the Whitbread Pension Fund. 
On retirement from service at the normal pension age of 60, directors will receive an annual pension of two-thirds of their last 12 months’ 
basic salary, subject to Inland Revenue approval limits.

As a result of Alan Parker’s earnings being restricted by the earnings cap, he is also a member of the Whitbread Group Unapproved 
Pension Scheme, an unfunded, unapproved pension scheme. His total pension from the Whitbread Group Pension Fund and the 
Whitbread Group Unapproved Pension Scheme combined on retirement at age 60 will be two-thirds of his last 12 months’ base salary. 
A director retiring early between the ages of 50 and 60 may, with the company’s consent, draw his or her accrued pension without any 
actuarial reduction.

In the event of death in service before normal pension age a lump sum benefit of four times base salary is paid, together with a 
spouse’s pension. On death after retirement, the director’s spouse will receive a pension of 60% of the director’s pension. In addition,  
if death occurs within five years after retirement a lump sum equal to the unpaid balance of five years’ pension will be payable.

All pensions are increased annually in line with RPI up to a maximum of 5%.

Executive directors do not contribute to the above pension schemes.

None of the executive directors are accruing benefits under any other company pension arrangements. No elements of executive 
directors’ pay packages are pensionable other than base salaries.

Neither the Chairman nor the non-executive directors are entitled to participate in any of these pension arrangements. 

As explained on pages 39 and 40, the Remuneration Committee is reviewing pension provision and a full report will be given in next 
year’s remuneration report on any changes made during 2005/6.

Directors – share interests
The interests of directors in the ordinary shares of 50 pence each in the company are shown below. All holdings are beneficial and 
include shares held in trust under the Whitbread Share Ownership Scheme. 

    Held at 3/3/2005 Held at 4/3/2004

Sir John Banham 28,500 28,500
Charles Gurassa 2,798 2,798
Rod Kent 3,000 3,000
Prue Leith 1,706 2,706
Stewart Miller 34,713 33,003
Alan Parker 49,676 30,028
David Richardson 22,928 29,557
Angie Risley 2,960 736 (1)

Bill Shannon 28,180 (2) 28,180
David Thomas 89,469 (2) 66,245
David Turner 2,000 2,000
Lord Williamson 1,500 1,500
(1) at date of appointment         (2) at 15 June 2004
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Share options (audited information)

It is not the Remuneration Committee’s policy to continue to make an annual grant of options under the Whitbread Executive Share 
Option Scheme. Options may be granted in exceptional circumstances, for example, on a senior recruitment or following an acquisition 
of a business.

The last general grant of options was made on 17 May 2004. The performance target for these options will require Whitbread to have 
an earnings per share growth of RPI plus 12% in 2006/7 compared to that for 2003/4. To the extent that this performance condition 
is not met at this time, the options will lapse, i.e. there will be no opportunity to retest performance conditions. The committee 
considered that earnings per share was the appropriate financial test for market value options because the option has an inherent 
share price growth target.

Options granted between 1996 and 2000 cannot be exercised unless either adjusted EPS growth exceeds RPI plus 2% per annum over 
any three consecutive years during the life of the option or TSR exceeds the average of the FTSE 100 Index over the same period. For 
options granted between June 2000 and June 2003 the performance conditions require the company’s adjusted earnings per share to 
exceed RPI plus 4% per annum measured over any three consecutive years out of the ten year performance period.

Executive directors may also participate in the company’s savings related share option scheme which is open to all employees on the 
same terms.

The exercise periods shown below are the normal exercise periods at the date of grant. Actual exercise periods are subject to change in 
accordance with the rules of the schemes when a director ceases to be employed by the company.

At 3 March 2005 (or date of resignation where applicable) the directors held the following share options under the executive share 
option schemes and the Savings-related Share Option Scheme. The earliest date on which any of the executive options could have 
been exercised was June 1998, with the latest being May 2014. Savings-related share options have a six-month exercise period.

Stewart Miller Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 51,900 8 July 1996 727.8p July 99 July 06

16,300 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

5,400 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

1,600 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

50,000 8 June 2000 542.4p June 03 June 10

50,000 26 July 2001 661.4p July 04 July 11

50,000 10 June 2002 641.0p June 05 June 12

50,000 9 June 2003 642.5p June 06 June 13

50,000 17 May 2004  756.0p May 07 May 14

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 614 4 December 2001 431.0p February 07 July 07

1,489 3 December 2002 441.2p February 08 July 08

1,113 30 November 2004  653.0p February 10 July 10

Total number of shares under option 328,416 (280,353 at 4 March 2004)

Alan Parker Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 61,300 19 June 1996 739.2p June 99 June 06

5,000 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

25,300 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

4,600 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

50,000 26 July 2001 661.4p July 04 July 11

50,000 10 June 2002 641.0p June 05 June 12

50,000 9 June 2003 642.5p June 06 June 13

80,000 17 May 2004  756.0p May 07 May 14

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 3,839 4 December 2001  431.0p February 07 July 07

Total number of shares under option 330,039 (300,039 at 4 March 2004)
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David Richardson Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 8,400 7 June 1995 594.2p June 98 June 05

21,300 8 July 1996 727.8p July 99 July 06

19,700 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

10,900 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

2,200 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

50,000 10 June 2002 641.0p June 05 June 12

50,000 9 June 2003 642.5p June 06 June 13

50,000 17 May 2004  756.0p May 07 May 14

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 2,451 4 December 2000  413.0p February 06 July 06

Total number of shares under option 214,951 (265,832 at 4 March 2004)

Angie Risley Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 3,500 19 June 1996 739.2p June 99 June 06

4,100 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

2,200 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

5,100 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

22,000 26 July 2001 661.4p July 04 July 11

30,000 10 June 2002  641.0p June 05 June 12

30,000 9 June 2003 642.5p June 06 June 13

50,000 17 May 2004  756.0p May 07 May 14

Total number of shares under option 146,900 (123,704 on appointment)

Bill Shannon Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 40,800 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

33,500 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

8,500 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

50,000 26 July 2001 661.4p July 04 July 11

50,000 10 June 2002 641.0p June 05 June 12

50,000 9 June 2003  642.5p June 06 June 13

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 408 4 December 2000 413.0p February 06 July 06

484 4 December 2001 431.0p February 05 July 05

1,456 3 December 2002  441.2p February 06 July 06

Total number of shares under option 235,148*    (342,548 at 4 March 2004)

David Thomas Number Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise date Last exercise date

Executive Share Option Schemes 13,400 7 June 1995 594.2p June 98 June 05

15,000 8 July 1996 727.8p July 99 July 06

64,200 6 June 1997 778.5p June 00 June 07

49,000 5 June 1998 1027.0p June 01 June 08

5,000 16 June 1999 1101.0p June 02 June 09

80,000 26 July 2001 661.4p July 04 July 11

80,000 10 June 2002  641.0p June 05 June 12

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 1,510 2 December 2003  610.7p February 07 July 07

Total number of shares under option 308,110*    (401,910 at 4 March 2004)

* at 15 June 2004



PA
G

E 
46

 
W

h
it

b
re

a
d 

PL
C

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

ep
or

t 
a

n
d

 A
cc

ou
n

ts
 2

00
4/

5

Remuneration report

Deferred Bonus Plan (‘the Plan’)
At 3 March 2005 the directors held the following deferred shares under the Plan:

Name Date of award Number of shares Market price at award Release date

Alan Parker 6 May 2004 6,831 768.5p 6 May 2007

David Richardson 6 May 2004 12,532 768.5p 6 May 2007

Angie Risley 6 May 2004 6,994 768.5p 6 May 2007

Bill Shannon* 6 May 2004 62,201 768.5p 30 June 2004

David Thomas* 6 May 2004 21,372 768.5p 15 June 2004

* Deferred shares shown as at 15 June 2004.

The awards are not subject to performance conditions and will vest in full on the release date subject to the director remaining an 
employee of Whitbread at that date. If the director ceases to be an employee of Whitbread prior to the release date by reason of 
redundancy, retirement, death, injury, ill health or disability the awards will be released in full. If the director ceases to be an employee 
of Whitbread for any other reason 50% of the shares will be awarded and the remainder will lapse.

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘the Plan’) (audited information)
Potential share awards held by the executive directors under the Plan at the beginning and end of the year, and details of awards 
vesting during the year and their value, are as follows:

Year of Balance Awarded Lapsed Vested (1) Balance         Performance Period Market Date Market Monetary
award at 4/3/04 at 3/3/05 Began Concludes price at award price at value of    (4)

/concluded award vested (2) vesting (3) vested award
 award (£) in 2004/5
 

Stewart Miller 2001 – – – 19,700  (5) –  1/3/01 28/2/04 634.5p 1/3/04  741.0p  –

2002 20,634 – – 20,634 – 1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p 1/3/05 912.0p 188,182

2003 27,094 – – – 27,094 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

2004 – 19,105 – – 19,105 1/3/04 28/2/07 753.7p – – –

47,728 19,105 – 40,334 (6) 46,199 188,182

Alan Parker 2002 20,634 – – 20,634 –  1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p 1/3/05  912.0p  188,182

2003 28,117 – – – 28,117 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

2004 – 33,169 – – 33,169 1/3/04 28/2/07 753.7p – – –

48,751 33,169 – 20,634 61,286 188,182

David Richardson 2002 23,581 – – 23,581 –  1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p 1/3/05  912.0p  215,059

2003 31,402 – – – 31,402 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

2004 – 22,143 – – 22,143 1/3/04 28/2/07 753.7p – – –

54,983 22,143 – 23,581 53,545 215,059

Angie Risley 2002 12,183 – – 12,183  – 1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p 1/3/05  912.0p  111,109

2003 17,526 – – – 17,526 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

2004 – 12,359 – – 12,359 1/3/04 28/2/07 753.7p – – –

29,709 12,359 – 12,183  29,885 111,109

Bill Shannon 2001 – – – 24,232  (5) –  1/3/01 28/2/04 634.5p 1/3/04  741.0p  –

2002 25,017 – – – 25,017 1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p –  –  –

2003 32,540 – – – 32,540 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

57,557 – – 24,232 (7) 57,557(8) –

David Thomas 2002 40,679 –  – – 40,679  1/3/02 28/2/05 636.1p –  –  –

2003 53,554 – – – 53,554 1/3/03 28/2/06 513.5p – – –

94,233 – – – 94,233(8) –
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Long Term Incentive Plan (‘the Plan’) – Notes 
(1)   Whitbread’s ranking against the comparator group for the 2002 LTIP award was fourth out of 20 comparators and generated a 100% vesting.

(2)  The shares awarded under the 2002 LTIP vested on 1 March 2005, at which point the directors’ nil-cost options over the shares became exercisable, 
subject to the end of the closed period. These options may now be exercised at any time before 1 March 2012.

(3)  The market price at vesting is the mid-market price on 1 March 2005 or 1 March 2004 in the case of the 2001 awards.

(4)  The monetary value of the vested award is the value at the date of vesting. This may be different from the value at the time the director chooses to 
exercise his nil-cost option. Details of the value of the award on exercise will be reported in the year of exercise.

(5)  These awards vested in 2003/4. Bill Shannon had not exercised his nil-cost option at the date of his resignation from the Board and Stewart Miller’s  
nil-cost option had not been exercised at 3 March 2005.

(6)  This includes an award which vested in a prior year but has not yet been exercised.

(7)  This includes an award which vested in a prior year and had not been exercised at the time Bill Shannon stepped down from the Board.

(8)  As at 15 June 2004.

The information below refers to any awards made up to the date of the 2004 AGM. Please refer to page 40 for details of the Plan after that date. 
Participation in the Plan is available to executive directors and a small number of other senior executives.

The Plan aligns the long-term interests of participants with those of the company and its shareholders and is designed to deliver superior performance 
from participants and to improve shareholder value.

The Plan rewards executives with shares rather than cash benefits. Awards are based on three-year performance periods and were calculated by taking 
half of the executive’s salary at the start of the period and dividing it by the Whitbread share price averaged over the five business days preceding the start 
of the performance period. The measure of performance is TSR.

Awards made prior to the 2004 AGM vest in part if the company performs at median, increasing to full vesting for top quartile performance relative to the 
comparator group of companies. This means that at the 50th percentile, 50% of the award will be paid and at the 75th percentile, 100% of the award will 
be paid, with a straight line operating in between.

For the 2002 award the comparator group of companies consisted of: Allied Domecq, BAA, Boots, Cadbury Schweppes, Compass, Dixons, Gallaher,  
Hilton Group, Imperial Tobacco, J Sainsbury, Marks & Spencer, Rank, Reckitt Benckiser, Scottish & Newcastle, Tate & Lyle, Tesco, Uniq and WHSmith.  
Albert Fisher, Arcadia and Six Continents were originally part of this group but their shares are no longer traded. Since the date of its demerger a weighted 
average of Mitchells and Butlers and Intercontinental Hotels Group has been used in place of Six Continents. The comparator group for the 2003 and 2004 
awards were constituents of the FTSE Hotels and Leisure index as at 1 March 2003 and 1 March 2004 respectively.

Options exercised (audited information)
Executive Share Option Schemes

Name Date of  grant Number 
granted

Option price Exercise period Exercise  date Number 
exercised

 Price on  
exercise

(2) Gain 
(£)

Stewart Miller 7/6/95 1,700 594.2p June 1998 to June 2005 10/5/04 1,700 760.0p 2,819*

Alan Parker 8/6/00 50,000 542.4p June 2003 to June 2010 18/5/04 50,000 752.0p 104,800*

David Richardson 8/6/00 50,000 542.4p June 2003 to June 2010 13/5/04 50,000 748.5p 103,050

26/7/01 50,000 661.4p June 2004 to July 2011 10/11/04 50,000 807.5p 73,050

Angie Risley 7/6/95 600 594.2p June 1998 to June 2005 18/5/04 600 750.0p 935

8/6/00 24,000 542.4p June 2003 to June 2010 18/5/04 24,000 750.0p 49,824

Bill Shannon(1) 7/6/95 30,200 594.2p June 1998 to June 2005 1/6/04 30,200 803.0p 63,058

8/7/96 27,200 727.8p July 1999 to July 2006 1/6/04 27,200 803.0p 20,454

8/6/00 50,000 542.4p June 2003 to June 2010 1/6/04 50,000 803.0p 130,300

David Thomas(1) 20/6/94 13,800 537.6p June 1997 to June 2004 28/5/04 13,800 783.0p 33,865

Savings-related Share Option Scheme 
Name Date of  grant Number 

granted
Option price Exercise period Exercise  date Number 

exercised
 Price on  
exercise

(2) Gain 
(£)

Stewart Miller 29/11/99 1,350 549.7p February 2005 to July 2005 1/2/05 1,350 887.5p 4,560*

David Richardson 4/12/01 881 431.0p February 2005 to July 2005 1/2/05 881 887.5p 4,022*

Angie Risley 4/12/01 2204 431.0p February 2005 to July 2005 1/2/05 2,204 887.5p 10,061*
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Options exercised continued (audited information)

Long Term Incentive Plan
Name Year of award Number 

granted
Option price Exercise period Exercise  date Number 

exercised
 Price on  
exercise

(2) Gain 
(£)

Alan Parker 2001 19,700 nil March 2004 to March 2011 11/5/04 19,700 764.5p 150,607*

David Richardson 2001 23,641 nil March 2004 to March 2011 11/5/04 23,641 764.5p 180,735*

David Thomas(1) 2001 39,402 nil March 2004 to March 2011 11/5/04 39,402 764.5p 301,228*

The agregate gain made by directors on the exercise of options was £1,233,368 (2003/4: £185,828). 

(1)  The gains on exercise shown above relate to exercises whilst directors were on the Board.  Since David Thomas and Bill Shannon stepped down from  
the Board on 15 June 2004, they made total gains of £751,670 and £698,391 respectively from the exercise of options.

(2)  The price on exercise is either the actual price attained, where the shares were sold on exercise, or the mid-market price on the day of exercise  
where the shares were retained.

*  The director retained some or all of the shares on exercise, but had all of the shares been sold this is the gain that would have been made.

Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)
The company funds an ESOT to enable it to acquire and hold shares for the LTIP, executive share option schemes and Deferred Bonus 
Plan. The ESOT currently holds 1,695,289 shares; the executive directors each have a technical interest in these shares as potential 
beneficiaries of the trust. All dividends on shares in the ESOT are waived by the Trustee. During the period from 3 March 2005 to  
25 April 2005 no director has exercised an option to call for the transfer of shares from the ESOT.

Share price information
The mid-market price of Whitbread ordinary shares on 3 March 2005 was 889p (4 March 2004 – 740p). The highest and lowest price 
paid between these dates was 934p and 693p respectively.

Changes since 3 March 2005
There have been no changes in directors’ interests in ordinary shares since 3 March 2005. 

Signed and approved on behalf of the Board

Charles Gurassa 
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

25 April 2005

Remuneration report
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Directors responsibility for the financial statements / Audit report

Statement of directors’  
responsibilities
The following statement, which should 
be read in conjunction with the auditors’ 
statement of their responsibilities below, 
is made with a view to distinguishing 
for shareholders the respective 
responsibilities of the directors and  
of the auditors in relation to the  
financial statements.

The directors are required by the 
Companies Act 1985 to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the company and the group as 
at the end of the financial year and of the 
profit or loss for the financial year.

The directors consider that in preparing 
the financial statements on pages 50 
to 78, the group has used appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied 
and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates, and that all 
applicable Accounting Standards have 
been followed.

The directors have responsibility for 
ensuring that the group keeps accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of the 
group and which enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1985.

The directors have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably 
open to them to safeguard the assets of 
the group and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities.

Independent auditors’ report to the 
members of Whitbread PLC
We have audited the group’s financial 
statements for the year ended 3 March 
2005 which comprise the accounting 
policies, group profit and loss account, 
group statement of total recognised 
gains and losses, group note of historical 
cost profits and losses, balance sheets, 
group cash flow statement and the 
related notes 1 to 36. These financial 
statements have been prepared on 
the basis of the accounting policies 
set out therein. We have also audited 
the information in the directors’ 
remuneration report that is described as 
having been audited.

This report is made solely to the 
company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Section 235 of the 
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 

by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of  
directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for 
preparing the Annual Report, including 
the financial statements which are 
required to be prepared in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom law  
and accounting standards as set 
out in the statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in relation to the  
financial statements. The directors 
are also responsible for preparing the 
directors’ remuneration report.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial 
statements and the part of the directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements, United Kingdom 
Auditing Standards and the Listing Rules 
of the Financial Services Authority.

We report to you our opinion as to 
whether the financial statements give 
a true and fair view and whether the 
financial statements and the part of 
the directors’ remuneration report to be 
audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the 
directors’ report is not consistent with the 
financial statements, if the company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we 
have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit, or  
if information specified by law or 
the Listing Rules regarding directors’ 
remuneration and transactions with  
the group is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate 
governance statement reflects the 
company’s compliance with the nine 
provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined 
Code specified for our review by the 
Listing Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority, and we report if it does not. 
We are not required to consider  
whether the board’s statements  
on internal control cover all risks  
and controls, or form an opinion  
on the effectiveness of the group’s  
corporate governance procedures  
or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in 
the Annual Report and consider whether 
it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. This other information 
comprises the Chairman’s statement, 
the Chief Executive’s review, the 
Finance Director’s review, the corporate 
governance statement, the unaudited 

part of the remuneration report and 
the directors’ report. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements. Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with United Kingdom Auditing Standards 
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a 
test basis, of evidence relevant to the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements and the part of the directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgements made by the 
directors in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit 
so as to obtain all the information and 
explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with 
sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements 
and the part of the directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited are free 
from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or other irregularity or 
error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the 
financial statements and the part of  
the directors’ remuneration report  
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•  the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the company and of the group as at 
3 March 2005 and of the profit of the 
group for the year then ended; and

•  the financial statements and the part 
of the directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP

Registered Auditor 
London 
25 April 2005
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Accounting policies

A. Accounting convention
The accounts are prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of property, 
and in accordance with applicable 
Accounting Standards.

B. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated accounts 
incorporate the accounts of the 
company and all group undertakings, 
together with the group’s share of the 
net assets and results of joint ventures 
and associates. These are adjusted, 
where appropriate, to conform to 
group accounting policies. Apart from 
the acquisition of Whitbread Group 
PLC by Whitbread PLC in 2000/1, 
which was accounted for using 
merger accounting, acquisitions are 
accounted for under the acquisition 
method and any goodwill arising 
is capitalised as an intangible fixed 
asset. On disposal of a business, the 
profit or loss on disposal is calculated 
after including any goodwill previously 
written off direct to reserves in 
respect of that business. The results of 
companies acquired or disposed of are 
included in the profit and loss account 
from or up to the date that control 
passes respectively. As a consolidated 
profit and loss account is published, 
a separate profit and loss account of 
the parent company is omitted from 
the group accounts by virtue of the 
exemption granted by section 230 of 
the Companies Act 1985.

C. Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill arising on acquisitions 
is capitalised. It is amortised, on a 
straight line basis, over its estimated 
useful economic life up to a maximum 
of 20 years. Goodwill written off 
against reserves in previous years  
has not been reinstated.

IT software is amortised, on a straight 
line basis over five years.

The carrying values of intangible fixed 
assets are reviewed for impairment 
if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying value may 
not be recoverable.

D. Tangible fixed assets
Prior to the adoption of FRS15 in the 
1999/2000 financial year, properties 
were regularly revalued on a cyclical 
basis. Since the adoption of FRS15, 
the group policy has been not to 
revalue its properties. Consequently 
the transitional provisions of FRS15 
have been applied and, while previous 
valuations have been retained, they 
have not been updated. Details of  
the last revaluations are given in  
note 14. Other fixed assets are stated 
at cost. Gross interest costs incurred 
on the financing of major projects are 
capitalised until the time that they  
are available for use.

Depreciable fixed assets are written 
off on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 Freehold land is not depreciated. 

  Freehold buildings are depreciated 
to their estimated residual values 
over periods up to 50 years.

  Leasehold properties are depreciated 
to their estimated residual values 
over the shortest of 50 years, their 
estimated useful lives and their 
remaining lease periods. 

  Administration and logistics 
furniture, fixtures and equipment 
are depreciated over 3 to 30 years.

  Retail furniture, fixtures and 
equipment are depreciated over  
4 to 25 years.

The carrying values of tangible fixed 
assets are reviewed for impairment 
if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying value may 
not be recoverable. Any impairment 
in the value of fixed assets below 
depreciated historical cost is charged 
to the profit and loss account. Profits 
and losses on disposal of fixed assets 
reflect the difference between net 
selling price and net book value at the 
date of disposal. 

E. Stocks 
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. The cost of 
finished goods includes appropriate 
overheads. Cost is calculated on 
the basis of first in, first out and net 
realisable value is the estimated selling 
price less any costs of disposal.

F. Foreign exchange 
Assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling at the rates of exchange 
quoted at the balance sheet date. 
Trading results are translated into 
sterling at average rates of exchange 
for the year. Day-to-day transactions 
are recorded in sterling at the 
rates ruling on the date of those 
transactions. Currency gains and 
losses arising from the retranslation 
of the opening net assets of overseas 
operations, less those arising from 
related currency borrowings to the 
extent that they are matched, are 
recorded as a movement on reserves, 
net of tax. The differences which 
arise from translating the results 
of overseas businesses at average 
rates of exchange, and their assets 
and liabilities at closing rates, are 
also dealt with in reserves. All other 
currency gains and losses are dealt 
with in the profit and loss account.

G. Financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments 
are used by the group for the 
management of foreign currency  
and interest rate exposures. Amounts 
payable or receivable in respect of 
interest rate swap and interest rate 
cap agreements are recognised as 
adjustments to the interest expense 
over the period of the contracts. Gains 
or losses on foreign currency forward 
and option contracts are recognised 
in the profit and loss account when 
the hedged transaction occurs. In the 
balance sheet, payments made to 
secure a hedge are included with the 
hedged item to which they relate.

Option premiums paid are recognised 
in the profit and loss account over 
the life of the contract. Premiums and 
discounts arising on financial liabilities 
are amortised over the remaining life 
of the instrument concerned.

H. Turnover
Turnover is the value of goods and 
services sold to third parties as part 
of the group’s trading activities, after 
deducting discounts and sales-based 
taxes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

I. Leases
Rental payments in respect of 
operating leases are charged against 
operating profit on a straight line basis 
over the period of the lease. Lease 
incentives are charged to operating 
profit on a straight line basis over the 
period to the review date on which the 
rent is first expected to be adjusted to 
the prevailing market rate.

J. Pension funding
Pension costs are charged to the 
profit and loss account over the 
average expected service life of 
current employees. Actuarial surpluses 
and deficits are amortised over the 
expected remaining service lives 
of current employees, using the 
percentage of pensionable salaries 
method. Differences between the 
amount charged in the profit and 
loss account and payments made to 
the schemes are treated as assets or 
liabilities in the balance  sheet.

K. Tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect 
of all timing differences that have 
originated but not been reversed by 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 
is not recognised when an asset is 
sold if it is more likely than not that 
the taxable gain will be rolled over. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that they are regarded as 
recoverable. Provisions for deferred tax 
are not discounted. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are calculated using the 
tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

L.   Own shares held by the ESOT

Own shares held by the ESOT are 
carried at cost and disclosed within 
shareholders’ funds.

M. Comparative amounts
Comparative amounts are restated 
where necessary to conform to current 
presentation.
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Group profit and loss account  
Year ended 3 March 2005

 2004/5 2003/4    
  Before Exceptional  Before Exceptional
  exceptional items  exceptional items
  items (note 4) Total items (note 4) Total
 Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover
Group and share of joint ventures  2,111.0  .–  2,111.0  1,977.4  .–  1,977.4 
Less share of joint ventures’ turnover  (198.1) .–  (198.1) (189.2) .–  (189.2)

Ongoing businesses  1,832.8  .–  1,832.8  1,788.2  .–  1,788.2 
Acquisitions  80.1  .–  80.1  .–  .–  .–        
Group turnover, continuing operations 2 1,912.9  .–  1,912.9  1,788.2  .–  1,788.2 
Net operating expenses 3 (1,623.0) (36.9) (1,659.9) (1,536.2) (15.5) (1,551.7)

Ongoing businesses  268.7  (30.4) 238.3  252.0  (15.5) 236.5 
Acquisitions  21.2  (6.5) 14.7  .–  .–  .–        

Group operating profit, continuing operations 3 289.9  (36.9) 253.0  252.0  (15.5) 236.5 
Share of operating profit in:

Joint ventures  19.3  .–  19.3  18.6  .–  18.6 
Associates  18.6  .–  18.6  22.4  .–  22.4 

Operating profit of the group, joint ventures
and associates – continuing operations 2 327.8  (36.9) 290.9  293.0  (15.5) 277.5 

Non-operating items, continuing operations

Net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets:
Group excluding joint ventures and associates  .–  22.9  22.9  .–  (10.8) (10.8)
Joint ventures  .–  (0.1) (0.1) .–  0.4  0.4 
Associates  .–  .–  .–  .–  0.1  0.1 

Ongoing businesses  306.6  (7.6) 299.0  293.0  (25.8) 267.2 
Acquisitions  21.2  (6.5) 14.7  .–  .–  .–        

Profit/(loss) before interest, continuing operations  327.8  (14.1) 313.7  293.0  (25.8) 267.2 
Interest 8 (64.3) .–  (64.3) (52.2) (3.3) (55.5)

Profit/(loss) before tax  263.5  (14.1) 249.4  240.8  (29.1) 211.7 
Tax 9 (81.6) 9.1  (72.5) (77.1) 30.2  (46.9)

Profit after tax  181.9  (5.0) 176.9  163.7  1.1  164.8 
Equity minority interests  (0.1) .–  (0.1) (0.1) .–  (0.1)
Non-equity minority interests  (0.2) .–  (0.2) (0.2) .–  (0.2)

Profit earned for ordinary shareholders 10 181.6  (5.0) 176.6  163.4  1.1  164.5 
Ordinary dividends  11 (75.0) .–  (75.0) (65.5) .–  (65.5)

Retained profit for the year 26 106.6  (5.0) 101.6  97.9  1.1  99.0 

Earnings per share (pence) 12
Basic    59.56    55.74 
Adjusted basic  64.08     58.22 
Diluted    59.12    55.39 
Adjusted diluted  63.61    57.85 
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Group statement of total recognised gains and losses  
Year ended 3 March 2005

      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Profit earned for ordinary shareholders
Group excluding joint ventures and associates      153.0  137.1 
Joint ventures      11.5  12.1 
Associates      12.1  15.3 

Group including joint ventures and associates      176.6  164.5 
Currency translation differences on net foreign investment     0.3  (0.7)
Unrealised gain arising from the dilution of the shareholding
in an associated undertaking      3.7  .– 

Total gains and losses recognised since previous year-end     180.6  163.8 

Group note of historical cost profits and losses
Year ended 3 March 2005
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Reported profit before tax      249.4  211.7 
Realisation of revaluation gains      0.4  9.2 
Difference between the historical cost depreciation charge and the
actual depreciation charge calculated on the revalued amount     0.8  1.0 

Historical cost profit before tax      250.6  221.9 

Historical cost profit for the year retained after 
tax, minority interests and dividends      102.8  109.2 
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Balance sheets  
3 March 2005

 Group Company     
    2005 2004 2005 2004
   Notes £m £m £m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets   13 126.0  147.6  .–  .– 
Tangible assets   14 3,596.2  2,989.7  .–  .– 
Investments    

In subsidiaries   15 .–  .–  1,660.4  1,737.8 
In joint ventures   16   
Share of joint ventures’ gross assets    87.0  90.1  .–  .– 
Share of joint ventures’ gross liabilities    (43.4) (47.2) .–  .– 
Loans to joint ventures    1.8  1.8  .–  .–  

    45.4  44.7  .–  .– 
In associates   17 68.8  65.3  .–  .– 
Other investments   18 6.4  3.7  .–  .– 

    3,842.8  3,251.0  1,660.4  1,737.8 

Current assets and liabilities    
Stocks   19 23.0  24.4  .–  .– 
Debtors – amounts falling due within one year   20 147.9  105.2  0.3  0.6 
Debtors – amounts falling due after more than one year  20 72.6  56.5  .–  .– 
Cash at bank and in hand    53.5  68.8  .–  .– 

    297.0  254.9  0.3  0.6 
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year   21 (517.5) (420.2) (54.5) (47.8)

Net current liabilities    (220.5) (165.3) (54.2) (47.2)

Total assets less current liabilities    3,622.3  3,085.7  1,606.2  1,690.6 
    
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year
Loan capital   22 (1,219.0) (807.5) .–  .– 
    
Provisions for liabilities and charges   24 (194.9) (179.8) (5.0) (5.0)

    2,208.4  2,098.4  1,601.2  1,685.6 

Capital and reserves    
Called up share capital   25 149.6  148.7  149.6  148.7 
Share premium account   25 23.2  13.5  23.2  13.5 
Revaluation reserve   26 123.3  124.5  .–  .– 
Other reserves   26 (1,814.0) (1,816.2) .–  .– 
Profit and loss account   26 3,720.5  3,621.1  1,428.4  1,523.4 

Shareholders’ funds   27 2,202.6  2,091.6  1,601.2  1,685.6 
    
Equity minority interests   27 2.7  3.7  .–  .– 
Non-equity minority interests   27 3.1  3.1  .–  .– 

    2,208.4  2,098.4  1,601.2  1,685.6 

Alan Parker
Director

David Richardson
Director

25 April 2005
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Group cash flow statement  
Year ended 3 March 2005

 2004/5 2003/4     
   Notes £m £m £m £m

Cash flow from operating activities   28  439.9   382.9 

Dividends received
Joint ventures     10.8   9.5 
Associates     12.3   11.9 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received    1.4   1.5 
Interest paid    (71.8)  (57.3)
Minority dividends paid    (0.2)  (0.2)     
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance   (70.6)  (56.0)

Tax
UK Corporation Tax paid     (48.8)  (28.0)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Fixed assets purchased    (260.9)  (209.0)
Investments purchased and loans advanced     (2.7)  (5.3)
Property and plant sold    64.8   112.3      
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and
financial investment     (198.8)  (102.0)

Acquisitions and disposals
Businesses acquired   29 (553.8)  (20.6)     
Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals     (553.8)  (20.6)

Equity dividends paid     (68.2)  (60.4)      
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before use of liquid
resources and financing     (477.2)  137.3 

Management of liquid resources
Net movement on short term securities and bank
deposits   30, 31  0.2   5.3 

Financing
Issue of shares     10.6   6.9 
Shares purchased for ESOT   26 (5.9)  .–
Net movement on short term bank borrowings   30, 31 (8.7)  7.7 
Loan capital issued   30, 31 513.4   22.7 
Loan capital repaid *   30, 31 (29.7)  (174.0)     
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing     479.7   (136.7)      
Increase in cash   30, 31  2.7   5.9       

* The net of receipts and payments on revolving credits is included in loan capital repaid.
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Notes to the accounts

1 Pension accounting
Although the third stage of the FRS17 (Retirement Benefits) transitional arrangements has been adopted there have been 
no changes to the reported figures which continue to be prepared on the basis of SSAP 24. The disclosures required under 
this stage of the transitional arrangements are included in note 7 to the accounts.

2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets
      Operating
    Turnover EBITDA† profit Net assets
Year ended 3 March 2005    £m £m £m £m

By business segment
Marriott brands    388.6  100.0  59.4# 1,107.3 
Premier Travel Inn    323.2  138.0  108.7  1,068.4        
Total hotels    711.8  238.0  168.1  2,175.7 

Pub restaurants    596.7  108.8  78.3  810.1 
High street restaurants    476.3  49.9  35.2  124.9        
Total restaurants    1,073.0  158.7  113.5  935.0 

David Lloyd Leisure    218.5  72.7  50.6# 539.6 
Developing business    .–  (1.0) (1.0) (0.1)       
Total sports, health and fitness    218.5  71.7  49.6  539.5 

    2,003.3  468.4  331.2  3,650.2 
Soft drinks    .–  17.4  17.4  58.6 
Inter-segment turnover (see note below)    (3.2)
Central costs    110.9  (15.0) (20.8) (236.8)
Exceptional items (note 4)    .–  (6.5) (36.9) .– 

Group including joint ventures and associates    2,111.0  464.3  290.9  3,472.0 

Share of joint ventures    (198.1) (19.3) (19.3) (45.4)
Share of associates    .–  (18.6) (18.6) (68.8)

Group excluding joint ventures and associates    1,912.9  426.4  253.0  3,357.8 

By geographical segment
United Kingdom    2,023.1  455.9  287.7  3,376.9 
Rest of the world    87.9  8.4  3.2  95.1 

Group including joint ventures and associates    2,111.0   464.3  290.9  3,472.0 

The 2004/5 segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets above includes acquisitions as follows:

      Operating
    Turnover EBITDA† profit Net assets
    £m £m £m £m

Premier Travel Inn    73.4  28.7  21.3  513.0 
Pub restaurants    6.7  0.4  (0.1) 32.2 

    80.1  29.1  21.2  545.2 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets (continued)
      Operating
    Turnover EBITDA† profit Net assets
Year ended 4 March 2004    £m £m £m £m

By business segment
Marriott brands    390.9  107.0  63.5# 1,157.8 
Travel Inn    229.8  93.0  74.0  544.8        
Total hotels    620.7  200.0  137.5  1,702.6 

Pub restaurants    590.4  113.2  84.1  733.5 
High street restaurants     453.3  42.7  28.5  112.8        
Total restaurants    1,043.7  155.9  112.6  846.3 

David Lloyd Leisure    201.8  69.5  48.7# 515.0 
Developing business    .–  (1.3) (1.3) (0.3)       
Total sports, health and fitness    201.8  68.2  47.4  514.7 

    1,866.2  424.1  297.5  3,063.6 
Beer and other drinks    10.1  21.5  21.5  55.1 
Inter-segment turnover (see note below)    (2.8) 
Central costs    103.9  (24.7) (26.0) (227.7)
Exceptional items (note 4)    .–  .–  (15.5) .– 

Group including joint ventures and associates    1,977.4  420.9  277.5  2,891.0 

Share of joint ventures    (189.2) (18.6) (18.6) (44.7)
Share of associates    .–  (22.4) (22.4) (65.3)

Group excluding joint ventures and associates    1,788.2  379.9  236.5  2,781.0 

By geographical segment
United Kingdom    1,898.8  413.6  274.0  2,819.1 
Rest of the world    78.6  7.3  3.5  71.9 

Group including joint ventures and associates    1,977.4  420.9  277.5  2,891.0 

†   EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional impairments and has been disclosed 
as it is considered a key  measure of performance for the Group.

#  Operating profit is stated after charging the amortisation of goodwill as follows:
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Mariott brands      8.0  8.0 
David Lloyd Leisure      0.4  0.4 

Following the sale of the Whitbread Beer Company there remained a continuing activity within the Beer segment.  
This ceased on 15 April 2003.
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets (continued)
Segmental turnover and profit includes the group’s share of joint venture turnover and profit as follows:

     Operating  Operating
    Turnover profit Turnover profit
    2004/5 2004/5 2003/4 2003/4
    £m £m £m £m

Premier Travel Inn    3.8  0.9 3.6  0.9
High street restaurants    194.3  18.4 185.6  17.7

    198.1  19.3 189.2  18.6

Inter-segment turnover was from High street restaurants to the other segments. Central costs turnover comprises, primarily, 
food distribution services provided to a joint venture. The geographical analysis of turnover and profit is by source. The 
analysis of turnover by destination was not materially different. Sales between geographical segments were not material.

Net assets included above are total net assets excluding net debt.

The exceptional costs included in operating profit are detailed in note 4. The analysis is as follows:
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Marriott brands      20.4  15.5 
Premier Travel Inn      6.2  .– 
Pub restaurants      0.3  .– 
David Lloyd Leisure      10.0  .– 

      36.9  15.5 

3 Profit and loss account details
 Continuing operations

     Total Operating Total
   Ongoing  before exceptional after
   businesses Acquisitions exceptionals items exceptionals
2004/5   £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover    1,832.8  80.1  1,912.9  .–  1,912.9 
Cost of sales   (475.8) (6.4) (482.2) .–  (482.2)

Gross profit   1,357.0  73.7  1,430.7  .–  1,430.7 
Distribution to customers (including retail branch costs)  (924.5) (45.0) (969.5) (2.3) (971.8)
Administration and other costs   (163.8) (7.5) (171.3) (34.6) (205.9)

Group operating profit   268.7  21.2  289.9  (36.9) 253.0 

 Continuing operations

     Total Operating Total
   Ongoing  before exceptional after
   businesses Acquisitions exceptionals items exceptionals
2003/4   £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover    1,786.7  1.5  1,788.2  .–  1,788.2 
Cost of sales   (484.6) .–  (484.6) .–  (484.6)

Gross profit   1,302.1  1.5  1,303.6  .–  1,303.6 
Distribution to customers (including retail branch costs)  (883.6) (1.7) (885.3) .–  (885.3)
Administration and other costs   (166.2) (0.1) (166.3) (15.5) (181.8)

Group operating profit   252.3  (0.3) 252.0  (15.5) 236.5 
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3 Profit and loss account details (continued)
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Included above are:
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (note 13)      13.4  8.4 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (note 14)      129.6  119.5 
Operating lease rentals:

Hire of plant and machinery      6.8  7.8 
Property and other operating leases      56.6  52.6 

Principal auditors’ fees (see below)      1.2  0.9 
Staff costs (note 6)      604.2 552.0

Principal auditors’ fees
Audit services:

Statutory audit – UK       0.8  0.6 
 – overseas      0.1  0.1 

Audit related regulatory reporting      0.2  0.1 
Tax services

Compliance services      0.1  0.1 

      1.2  0.9 

In addition to the fees above the auditors received £0.2m, relating to the disposal of the Marriott hotels business,  
which has been included in prepayments at the year-end.

4 Exceptional items
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Operating items
Reorganisation costs associated with the Premier Lodge acquisition    (6.5) .– 
Impairment of property (note 14)      (14.3) (4.4)
Impairment of goodwill (note 13)      (16.1) (11.1)

Charged against operating profit      (36.9) (15.5)

Non-operating items
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets: 

Group excluding joint ventures and associates      22.9  (10.8)
Joint ventures      (0.1) 0.4 
Associates      .–  0.1 

      (14.1) (25.8)
Exceptional financing costs (note 8)      .–  (3.3)
Exceptional current UK tax adjustment (note 9)      .–  26.5 
Current tax on exceptional items (note 9)      1.2  .– 
Deferred tax on exceptional items (note 9)      7.9  3.7 

      (5.0) 1.1 

The impairment of goodwill relates to eight properties within Marriott brands to which goodwill was allocated on the 
acquisition of Swallow Group PLC where the estimated value has fallen below the carrying value including the goodwill. 
The impairment of property relates to Marriott head office assets and four David Lloyd Leisure clubs. The 2003/4 
impairment of goodwill and the impairment of property related to five properties within Marriott brands. The impairments 
for Marriott are calculated by reference to estimated net realisable value and for the David Lloyd Leisure clubs by reference  
to value in use, calculated using a discount rate of 11%, the group’s estimated weighted average cost of capital before 
tax. The net profit of £22.9m on the disposal of fixed assets, for the group excluding joint ventures and associates, relates 
primarily to the profit on the disposal of the 11 Courtyard by Marriott hotels. The 2003/4 net loss of £10.8m relates 
primarily to book losses on the sales of pub restaurants and the Swallow hotels.

5 Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the remuneration report on pages 38 to 48.
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Notes to the accounts continued

6 Staff costs and numbers
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Wages and salaries      552.3  504.6 
Social security costs      43.0  38.1 
Pension costs (note 7)      8.9  9.3 

      604.2  552.0 

      2004/5 2003/4

The average number of persons directly employed in the various sectors of the business was as follows:

Marriott brands      8,937  10,446 
Premier Travel Inn      8,749  6,075        
Total hotels      17,686  16,521 

Pub restaurants      21,623  21,848 
High street restaurants      8,946  8,682        
Total restaurants      30,569  30,530 

David Lloyd Leisure      5,140  5,303 
Developing business      4  4        
Total sports, health and fitness      5,144  5,307 

      53,399  52,358 
Central costs      84  79 

      53,483  52,437 

Excluded from the above are employees of joint ventures and associated undertakings.

7 Pensions
Both the defined benefit (final salary) section of the principal group pension scheme, the Whitbread Group Pension Fund, 
and the defined contribution scheme, were closed to new members on 31 December 2001. Both schemes are funded 
and contributions by both employees and group companies are held in externally invested trustee-administered funds. 
Members of these schemes are contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. A replacement, contracted-in, 
defined contribution arrangement was established as a section of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund with effect from  
1 April 2002. The total non-government pension cost for the group, including directors, is analysed below:

      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Funded schemes      8.3  8.8 
Unfunded scheme      0.5  0.4 
Overseas schemes      0.1  0.1 

      8.9  9.3 

The pension cost relating to the defined benefit section of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund is assessed in accordance 
with actuarial advice from Hewitt, Bacon & Woodrow, using the projected unit credit valuation basis. As the scheme 
is now closed to new members the current service cost, under the projected unit credit valuation basis, will increase as 
a percentage of salary as members of the scheme approach retirement although the overall cost will decrease as the 
number of members decreases. 

The pension cost for the year has been based on the latest actuarial valuation which was carried out as at 31 March 2002. 
The assumptions were derived from market yields. Separate assumptions were made for the discount rate used to value 
liabilities and the return expected on the assets. The value of the assets was calculated as an average of the market values 
over the past three years.

The main valuation assumptions were that the return on investments would be 4.9% per annum above inflation, that the 
discount rate would be 3.4% per annum above inflation until retirement and 2.9% per annum above inflation thereafter, 
that the annual increase in pensionable salaries (including promotional increases) would be 2.0% above inflation and that 
the annual increase in pensions in payment would average 0.1% per annum below inflation. The regular cost is derived 
as the service cost (calculated using the real discount rates set out above) less an adjustment reflecting the excess of 
the expected return on the assets over interest on the liabilities. The average expected remaining service life of current 
employees is eight years.
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7 Pensions (continued)
Membership of the defined benefit section of the fund at 3 March 2005 was 3,840 (2004 – 4,598). 

The increase in the pension prepayment included in debtors (note 20) represents funding paid to Whitbread Group Pension 
Fund in excess of the pension cost.

The Board announced in April 2003 that the company had signed an agreement with Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited. 
Under that agreement, the company has undertaken to fund the pension scheme for a period of up to 15 years and given 
undertakings to the trustees similar to some of the covenants provided in respect of its banking agreements, up to a 
value of £300m. As a consequence of this agreement, payments are being made into the fund for each of the three years, 
starting in 2003/4, at a rate of £15m above the anticipated SSAP 24 charge.

Financial Reporting Standard 17 – Retirement Benefits will change fundamentally the calculation and reporting of the 
cost of retirement benefits. The disclosures below relate to the retirement benefit plans in the UK.

The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in updating the most recent valuations of the
UK schemes to 3 March 2005 for FRS17 purposes were:

 At At At
 3 March 4 March 1 March
  2005  2004  2003

Rate of increase in salaries 4.2% 4.4% 4.0%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.6% 2.8% 2.5%
Discount rate 5.4% 5.6% 5.6%
Inflation assumption 2.7% 2.9% 2.5%

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:

  Long-term  Long-term  Long-term
  rate of   rate of   rate of 
  return  return  return
  expected at Value at expected at Value at expected at Value at
  3 March  3 March 4 March 4 March 1 March  1 March 
   2005  2005  2004  2004  2003 2003
   £m  £m  £m

Equities  7.70% 552.0  7.80%  550.0  7.40%  564.0 
Government bonds  4.70% 327.0  4.80%  319.0  4.40%  122.0 
Corporate bonds  5.30% 127.0  5.50%  72.0  5.10%  113.0 
Cash  4.70% 5.0  4.00%  11.0  3.75%  13.0       
Total market value of assets    1,011.0    952.0    812.0 

Present value of scheme liabilities   (1,357.0)  (1,318.0)  (1,232.0)      
Deficit in scheme   (346.0)  (366.0)  (420.0)

Related deferred tax asset   103.8   109.8   126.0       
Net pension liability   (242.2)  (256.2)  (294.0)      

If FRS17 had been adopted in the financial statements, the group’s net assets and profit and loss reserve at
3 March 2005 would have been as follows:
      2005 2004
      £m £m

Net assets excluding SSAP 24 pension asset/(liability)      2,164.3  2,060.9 
FRS17 pension liability      (242.2) (256.2)

       1,922.1   1,804.7 

Profit and loss reserve excluding SSAP 24 pension asset/(liability)    3,676.4  3,583.6 
FRS17 pension reserve      (242.2) (256.2)

       3,434.2   3,327.4 
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Notes to the accounts continued

7 Pensions (continued)
Analysis of the amount that would have been charged to the profit and loss account:

       2004/5   2003/4 
       £m   £m 

Analysis of the amount that would have been charged to operating profit:
Current service cost      12.5   12.5 
Past service cost      0.5  .– 

Total charge       13.0   12.5 

Analysis of the amount that would have been (charged)/credited to other finance income:
Expected return on pension scheme assets      61.5   53.0 
Interest on pension scheme liabilities      (72.5) (68.0)

Net charge      (11.0) (15.0)

Net charge to the profit and loss account      24.0   27.5 

Analysis of the amount that would have been recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (STRGL):

       2004/5   2003/4 
       £m   £m 

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets     33.0  118.0 
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities     (4.5) (6.0)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities   (6.5) (53.5)

Actuarial gain recognised in the STRGL      22.0  58.5 

Analysis of the movement in scheme deficit during the year:
       2004/5   2003/4 
       £m   £m 

Deficit in the scheme at 4 March 2004      (366.0) (420.0)
Movement in the year:

Current service cost      (12.5) (12.5)
Contributions paid      22.0  23.0 
Past service costs      (0.5) .– 
Other finance income      (11.0) (15.0)
Actuarial gains      22.0  58.5 

Deficit in the scheme at 3 March 2005      (346.0) (366.0)

History of experience gains and losses:
     2004/5 2003/4 2002/3

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets
Value (£m)     33.0  118.0  (267.5)
Percentage of scheme assets     3% 12% 33%

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities
Value (£m)     (4.5) (6.0) (1.0)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities    0% 0% 0%

Total amount recognised in the STRGL
Value (£m)      22.0  58.5  (354.0)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities    2% 4% 29%
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8 Interest  
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Interest payable and similar charges:
Bank loans and overdrafts      30.8  11.4 
Other      34.0  41.7 

      64.8  53.1 
Deduct:
Interest receivable on short term deposits      (0.8) (0.6)
Interest receivable from joint ventures and associates      (0.8) (0.8)
Interest capitalised      (1.8) (2.2)

      61.4  49.5 
Interest payable by:
Joint ventures      0.5  0.5 
Associates      0.7  0.6 

      62.6  50.6 
Interest from unwinding discounts on provisions (note 24)     1.7  1.6 
Exceptional financing costs *      .–  3.3 

      64.3  55.5 

* The exceptional financing costs in 2003/4 were associated with the recognition of tax losses (note 9).

9 Tax
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Current tax on profits for the year before exceptional items:
UK Corporation Tax      53.3  56.1 
Adjustments to UK Corporation Tax for earlier years      (10.6) (1.0)

      42.7  55.1 
Overseas tax      0.3  0.4 
Adjustments to overseas tax for earlier years      (0.3) .– 

Joint ventures      6.7  5.7 
Associates      5.7  5.6 

Exceptional current UK tax adjustment*      .–  (26.5)
Current UK tax on operating exceptional items      (1.9) .– 
Current UK tax on non-operating exceptional items      0.7  .– 

Total current tax      53.9  40.3 

Deferred tax on profit before exceptional items:
Timing differences – Group      24.4  11.4 

– Joint ventures      0.5  0.7 
– Associates      0.1  1.0 

Deferred tax on non-operating exceptional items       (7.9) (3.7)
Adjustments to deferred tax for earlier years      1.5  (2.8)

Total deferred tax      18.6  6.6 

Total tax charge      72.5  46.9 

*  During 2003/4 the Group realised the value of tax losses previously unrecognised in the accounts. These have been 
treated as exceptional.
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Notes to the accounts continued

9 Tax (continued)
Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year:  
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Profit before tax      249.4  211.7 

Tax at current UK Corporation Tax rate of 30% (2003/4 – 30%)     74.8  63.5 
Effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes:

Impairments      4.8  4.7 
Other (principally goodwill amortisation and depreciation
of assets not qualifying for capital allowances)      1.1  8.6 

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation      (7.0) (2.9)
Other timing differences      (9.6) (4.8)
Higher/(lower) rates on profits of joint ventures and associates     0.7  (0.9)
Use of losses not previously recognised      .–  (23.9)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years     (10.9) (4.0)

Total current tax charge      53.9  40.3 

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
The key factors which may affect the future tax charge include the availability of capital allowances in excess of 
depreciation on assets qualifying for capital allowances.

10 Profit earned for ordinary shareholders
The profit and loss account of the parent company is omitted from the group accounts by virtue of the exemption
granted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The loss earned for ordinary shareholders and included in
the accounts of the parent company amounted to £20.0m (2003/4 – £0.7m).

11 Ordinary dividends
      2004/5 

£m
2003/4 

£m

Interim 6.90 pence per share (2003/4 – 6.15 pence) 20.4 17.7
Proposed final 18.35 pence per share (2003/4 – 16.15 pence) 54.6 47.8

25.25 pence per share (2003/4 – 22.30 pence) 75.0 65.5

The final dividend proposed of 18.35 pence per ordinary share will be paid following the share consolidation approved by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 22 April 2005 at the equivalent rate of 21.4 pence per new ordinary share.

12 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings for ordinary shareholders of £176.6m (2003/4 – £164.5m) by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 296.5m (2003/4 – 295.1m).

Adjusted basic earnings per share is calculated as follows:
 Earnings (£m) Earnings per share (p)     
    2004/5 2003/4 2004/5 2003/4

Earnings and basic earnings per share    176.6  164.5  59.56  55.74 
Earnings and basic earnings per share attributable to:
Goodwill amortisation    8.4  8.4  2.83  2.85 
Exceptional costs, net of tax    5.0  (1.1) 1.69  (0.37)

Adjusted earnings and basic earnings per share    190.0  171.8  64.08  58.22 

The adjusted earnings per share is presented so as to show more clearly the underlying performance of the group. Diluted 
earnings per share is the basic and adjusted basic earnings per share after allowing for the dilutive effect of the conversion 
into ordinary shares of the weighted average number of options outstanding during the period. The number of shares used 
for the diluted and adjusted diluted calculation is 298.7m (2003/4 – 297.0m).
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13 Intangible fixed assets
    Goodwill IT software Other Total
Whitbread Group    £m £m £m £m

Cost 4 March 2004    168.2  25.6  .–  193.8 
Additions    .–  9.4  .–  9.4 
Businesses acquired    .–  .–  1.2  1.2 
Disposals    (3.4) .–  .–  (3.4)

Cost 3 March 2005    164.8  35.0  1.2  201.0 

Amortisation 4 March 2004    (46.2) .–  .–  (46.2)
Amortisation for the year    (8.4) (4.9) (0.1) (13.4)
Disposals    0.7  .–  .–  0.7 
Impairment (note 4)    (16.1) .–  .–  (16.1)

Amortisation 3 March 2005    (70.0) (4.9) (0.1) (75.0)

Net book amounts 3 March 2005    94.8  30.1  1.1  126.0 

Net book amounts 4 March 2004    122.0  25.6  .–  147.6 

      2005 2004
      £m £m

Capital expenditure commitments for intangible fixed assets for which no provision has been made .–  4.7 

All goodwill is being amortised over 20 years, which is its estimated useful economic life. IT software is amortised over  
five years from the date at which it becomes fully operational.

Other intangibles comprise the brand name and franchise fee agreement acquired with the Premier Lodge business.  
These are being amortised over their estimated useful economic lives of periods up to 10 years.

14 Tangible fixed assets
 Administration
  & logistics Retail    
    Furniture,  Furniture,
   Land & fixtures & Land & fixtures &
   buildings equipment buildings equipment Total
Whitbread Group   £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation 4 March 2004   19.6  30.1  2,443.4  1,048.5  3,541.6 
Foreign exchange movements   .–  .–  2.6  1.0  3.6 
Businesses acquired   .–  .–  479.1  66.3  545.4 
Additions   0.2  3.9  122.7  132.3  259.1 
Interest capitalised   .–  .–  1.8  .–  1.8 
Reclassified   (0.7) (4.8) (1.1) 6.6  .– 
Disposals   (0.3) (8.1) (42.2) (113.8) (164.4)

Cost or valuation 3 March 2005   18.8  21.1  3,006.3  1,140.9  4,187.1 

Depreciation 4 March 2004   (1.7) (16.7) (100.5) (433.0) (551.9)
Foreign exchange movements   .–  .–  (0.7) (0.7) (1.4)
Depreciation for the year   .–  (3.7) (22.4) (103.5) (129.6)
Impairment of property (note 4)   .–  (4.3) (5.3) (4.7) (14.3)
Reclassified   .–  0.3  (0.2) (0.1) .– 
Disposals   0.1  7.2  2.3  96.7  106.3 

Depreciation 3 March 2005   (1.6) (17.2) (126.8) (445.3) (590.9)

Net book amounts 3 March 2005   17.2  3.9  2,879.5  695.6  3,596.2 

Net book amounts 4 March 2004   17.9  13.4  2,342.9  615.5  2,989.7 

Up to and including 1998/9 it was the group policy to revalue its UK properties, other than leasehold properties with a 
remaining term of less than 20 years. In 1999/2000 the group adopted FRS15 (Tangible Fixed Assets). The transitional 
provisions of FRS15 were applied and, whilst previous valuations have been retained, they have not been updated. From 
1999/2000 it has been group policy not to revalue fixed assets. Past revaluations were performed by external valuers.
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Notes to the accounts continued

14 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
If the revaluations up to 1998/9 had not taken place, the net book amounts of fixed assets would have been:

 Administration
  & logistics Retail    
    Furniture,  Furniture,
   Land & fixtures & Land & fixtures &
   buildings equipment buildings equipment Total
Whitbread Group   £m £m £m £m £m

Cost   18.8  21.1  2,862.5  1,140.9  4,043.3 
Depreciation   (1.6) (17.2) (106.3) (445.3) (570.4)

Net book amounts 3 March 2005   17.2  3.9  2,756.2  695.6  3,472.9 

Net book amounts 4 March 2004   17.9  13.4  2,218.4  615.5  2,865.2 

     Long Short
    Freehold leasehold leasehold Total
Net book amounts of properties:    £m £m £m £m

3 March 2005    1,939.1  783.7  173.9  2,896.7 

4 March 2004    1,499.6  747.7  113.5  2,360.8 

      2005 2004
Cost or valuation of properties:      £m £m

As valued 1992/3      2.9  2.9 
As valued 1993/4      8.4  11.0 
As valued 1994/5      104.1  105.8 
As valued 1995/6      110.0  112.3 
As valued 1996/7      130.0  130.1 
As valued 1997/8      177.4  181.6 
As valued 1998/9      261.7  275.3 
At cost      2,230.6  1,644.0 

      3,025.1  2,463.0 

Capital expenditure commitments for tangible fixed assets for which no provision has been made 39.5  45.9 

15 Investment in subsidiary undertakings
      2005 2004
Whitbread PLC      £m £m

Shares at cost
4 March 2004 and 3 March 2005      2,256.1  2,256.1 
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings      (595.7) (518.3)

      1,660.4  1,737.8 

     Country of Country of % of equity
    Principal incorporation principal and votes
Principal subsidiary undertakings    activity or registration operations held

Whitbread Group PLC   Restaurants & Hotels England England 100
David Lloyd Leisure Ltd    Leisure England England 100
Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd    Hotels England England 100
Swift Hotels Ltd    Hotels England England 100
Whitbread Hotels Ltd     Hotels England England 100
Premier Travel Inn Ltd    Hotels England England 100
Costa Ltd  Roasters, wholesalers and retailers of coffee England England 100
Whitbread Restaurants Holdings GmbH   Restaurants Germany Germany 100

Shares in Whitbread Group PLC are held directly by Whitbread PLC. Shares in the other subsidiaries, with the exception of 
Swift Hotels Ltd and Whitbread Hotels Ltd, are held by Whitbread Group PLC. Swift Hotels Ltd and Whitbread Hotels Ltd are 
subsidiaries of Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd. All principal subsidiary undertakings have the same year-end as Whitbread PLC.
All the above companies have been included in the group consolidation. The companies listed above are those which 
materially affect the amount of profit and the assets of the group. A full list of subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and 
associates will be annexed to the next annual return of Whitbread PLC to be filed with the Registrar of Companies.
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16 Unlisted investments in joint ventures
     Investments Loans Total
Whitbread Group     £m £m £m

Share of net assets 4 March 2004     42.9  1.8  44.7 
Share of retained profits less losses     0.7  .–  0.7 

Share of net assets 3 March 2005     43.6  1.8  45.4 

Directors’ valuation
3 March 2005     170.0  1.8  171.8 
4 March 2004     135.0  1.8  136.8 

Principal joint ventures
 Loans to joint ventures
   Principal Total equity Whitbread
   activity par value (a) holding of (a) 2005 2004
    £m  £m £m

Pizza Hut (UK) Ltd  Restaurants 0.8  50% .–  .– 
Spirit Travel Inn Ltd  Hotels 6.3  50% 1.8  1.8 

The above companies are registered in England, which is also the main area of their operations. The investments are held 
by Whitbread Group PLC and Whitbread Hotels Ltd. All joint ventures have the same year-end as Whitbread PLC except 
Pizza Hut (UK) Ltd which has a year-end of 30 November.

      2005 2004
Analysis of share of net assets      £m £m

Tangible fixed assets      80.0  76.8 
Current assets      7.0  13.3 
Liabilities due within one year      (32.2) (36.6)
Liabilities due after one year      (11.2) (10.6)

Net assets      43.6  42.9

17 Unlisted investments in associates
     Investments Loans Total
Whitbread Group     £m £m £m

Share of net assets 4 March 2004     58.2  7.1  65.3 
Share of retained losses less profits     (0.2) .–  (0.2)
Movement in reserves     3.7  .–  3.7 

Share of net assets 3 March 2005     61.7  7.1  68.8 

Directors’ valuation
3 March 2005     186.6  7.1  193.7 
4 March 2004     131.3  7.1  138.4 

Principal associates
 Loans to associates
   Principal Total equity Whitbread
   activity par value (a) holding of (a) 2005 2004
    £m  £m £m

Britannia Soft Drinks Ltd  Soft drinks 15.7  23.75% .–  .– 
Poles Ltd  Hotel 3.1  26% 4.7  4.7 
Neptune Whitbread Hotel Ltd  Hotel .–  20% 2.4  2.4 
Morrison Street Hotel Ltd  Hotel 1.7  40% .–  .– 
Fitnessalud SA  Leisure Club 4.1  35% .–  .– 

In March 2004, the shareholders in Britannia Soft Drinks Ltd (BSD) signed an agreement with PepsiCo under which 
PepsiCo’s 10% shareholding in Britvic, a BSD subsidiary, was exchanged for a 5% shareholding in BSD. The shareholders  
also created the opportunity to undertake an initial public offering of BSD at any time prior to 31 December 2008.  
As a result of this agreement Whitbread Group PLC’s shareholding in BSD changed from 25% to 23.75%. 

The above companies, except Morrison Street Hotel Ltd and Fitnessalud SA are registered in England, which is also 
the main area of their operations. Morrison Street Hotel Ltd is registered in Scotland, which is also the main area of its 
operation. Fitnessalud SA is registered in Spain, which is also the main area of its operation. The investments are held  
by Whitbread Group PLC, David Lloyd Leisure Ltd and Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd. All principal associates have the  
same year-end as Whitbread PLC except BSD which has a year-end of 30 September.
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Notes to the accounts continued

18 Other unlisted investments
       Total
Whitbread Group       £m

Cost 4 March 2004       3.7 
Additions       2.7 

Cost 3 March 2005       6.4 

Directors’ valuation
3 March 2005       6.4 
4 March 2004       3.7 

Unlisted investments is, primarily, an investment in a venture capital partnership. The Group has a commitment to 
invest a further €16.0m over the period to 2008.

19 Stocks
      Group Group
      2005 2004
      £m £m

Raw materials and consumables      1.2  1.0 
Finished goods      21.8  23.4 

      23.0  24.4 

The estimated replacement cost of stocks is not materially different from the above carrying values.

20 Debtors
    Group  Group  Company  Company 
    2005 2004 2005 2004
    £m £m £m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors    55.9  46.7  0.3  .– 
Joint ventures    10.1  8.5  .–  .– 
Associates    5.0  1.5  .–  .– 
Other debtors    36.3  19.1  .–  0.6 
Prepayments and accrued income    40.6  29.4  .–  .– 

    147.9  105.2  0.3  0.6 

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred consideration for property disposals    4.9  4.8  .–  .– 
Pension prepayment under SSAP 24    67.7  51.7  .–  .– 

    72.6  56.5  .–  .– 

21 Creditors – amounts falling due within one year
    Group  Group  Company  Company 
    2005 2004 2005 2004
    £m £m £m £m

Loan capital (note 22)    77.1  5.8  .–  .– 
Bank overdrafts    21.1  48.1  .–  .– 
Trade creditors    136.8  101.0  .–  .– 
Associates    .–  0.8  .–  .– 
Corporation Tax    16.9  24.2  .–  .– 
Other taxes and social security    49.8  44.7  .–  .– 
Accruals and deferred income    96.7  100.0  (0.1) .– 
Other creditors    64.5  47.8  .–  .– 
Proposed final dividend on ordinary shares    54.6  47.8  54.6  47.8 

    517.5  420.2  54.5  47.8 
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22 Loan capital
    Repayment Interest 2005 2004
Subsidiary undertakings    dates rates £m £m

Secured:
Redeemable debenture stock (nominal value £200.5m) 2011 11.625%# 208.2  209.1 
Redeemable debenture stock (nominal value £100m) 2021 8.125% 100.0  100.0 
Other loans  2005 to 2008 Variable 2.3  3.6 
Bank loan   2005 to 2009 8.0% 4.0  4.2 
Bank loan  2005 to 2006 10.0% 0.1  0.2 
Bank loan  2005 to 2012 Variable 0.4  0.5 
Debenture (nominal value £10m)  2010 11.75%# 12.1  12.4 
Debenture (nominal value £25m)  2015 9.875%# 31.5  31.9 
Debenture (nominal value £80m)  2019 10.75%# 112.0  113.4 
Debenture  Not fixed Nil .–  0.2 
Loan  2005 to 2006 11.28% 1.3  2.0 

Unsecured:
Loan notes  2011 to 2013 Variable 0.9  2.1 
Loan notes  2005 to 2012 5.0% 2.0  2.0 
Revolving credit facility (£275m)  2005 Variable 72.2  117.5 
Revolving credit facility (£280m)  2008 Variable 149.3  114.5 
Revolving credit facility (£500m)  2006  Variable 500.0  .– 
Bonds (nominal value £100m)  2007 8.25%# 99.8  99.7 

Whitbread Group    1,296.1  813.3 

Debenture stocks and secured loans are secured by fixed and floating charges on certain group tangible fixed assets.

# The interest rates quoted relate to the nominal values rather than the carrying values.

The group has entered into agreements which swap the fixed interest rate of £192.4m nominal value (£198.4m including 
premium) of the 11.625% debenture stock for variable rates until 2011, and the fixed interest rate of the 8.125% debenture 
stock for variable rates until 2021. In addition the group has entered into agreements which swap the variable rates on 
£150m of debt (2004 – £150m) to fixed rates of between 5.43% and 8.15% (2004 – 5.43% and 8.15%) for periods of up to  
4 years (2004 – up to 5 years).
       Group Group
      2005 2004
Summarised as follows:      £m £m

Repayable:
In one year or less, or on demand      74.1  3.1 
In more than one year, but not more than two      601.2  118.7 
In more than two years, but not more than five      157.8  220.1 
In more than five years – repayable by instalments      .–  3.2 

– other      415.3  417.7 

Total loans      1,248.4  762.8 
Premiums, issue costs, etc.      47.7  50.5 

      1,296.1  813.3 
Deduct falling due within one year (note 21)      (77.1) (5.8)

Falling due after more than one year      1,219.0  807.5 

The total of instalment loans, any part of which falls due after more than five years, amounts to nil (2004 – £4.2m).

Included within amounts repayable between two and five years is £149.6m (2004 – £117.5m between one and two years, 
and £115m between two and five years) which is repayable in less than one year. These advances were made under credit 
facility agreements with original lives of five years. Under the terms of the agreements, the participating banks are obliged, 
on demand, to refinance any amounts falling due for repayment until expiry of the facility. Included within amounts 
repayable between one and two years is an amount of £500m which is repayable in less than one year. This advance is 
made under an agreemant under which the bank is obliged to extend the advance by an additional one year term. Details 
of unused committed facilities are disclosed in the Finance Director’s review. Overdrafts which are all repayable within one 
year, are disclosed in note 21. Undrawn commited facilities totalling £333.5m existed at the year-end. Of these, £202.8m 
expire within one year (2003/4 – nil), nil expire in one to two years (2003/4 – £357.5m) and £130.7m expire in more than 
two years (2003/4 – £165.0m).
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Notes to the accounts continued

23 Financial instruments
The group’s objectives and policies on the use of financial instruments, including derivatives, can be found in the Finance 
Director’s Review. Amounts dealt with in this note exclude short term assets and liabilities except cash, overdrafts and loan 
capital repayable in one year or less.

Analysis of interest rate exposure and currency of net debt
  Weighted averages
 Loan capitalq  re fixed rate debt#

     
   Over- Floating Interest
 Total Cash drafts† rate§ free Fixed rate Interest Period rate
 £m £m £m £m £m £m rate is fixed for

2005
Sterling 1,197.2  (36.2) 21.1  793.7  .–  418.6  6.8% 6.6 years
Euro 66.5  (17.3) .–  79.8  .–  4.0  8.0% 4.8 years

Net debt (note 30) 1,263.7  (53.5) 21.1  873.5  .–  422.6 

2004
Sterling 741.2  (48.0) 48.1  319.3  0.2  421.6  6.8% 7.5 years
Euro 51.4  (20.8) .–  68.0  .–  4.2  8.0% 5.8 years

Net debt (note 30) 792.6  (68.8) 48.1  387.3  0.2  425.8 

The average years to maturity of interest free net debt is not quoted as this amount represents a loan with no fixed 
repayment date.

Analysis of currency and interest rate exposure of financial assets
     Loans  
     to joint Interest
     ventures and bearing Other
   Total Cash associates debtor investments
   £m £m £m £m £m

2005
Sterling   56.4  36.2  8.9  4.9  6.4 
Euro   17.3  17.3  .–  .–  .– 

Financial assets   73.7  53.5  8.9  4.9  6.4 

2004
Sterling   65.4  48.0  8.9  4.8  3.7 
Euro   20.8  20.8  .–  .–  .– 

Financial assets   86.2  68.8  8.9  4.8  3.7 

 
Weighted averages 

 re fixed rate assets
   Floating Interest
  Total rate free Fixed rate Interest Period rate
  £m £m £m £m rate is fixed for

2005
Sterling  56.4  4.9  43.9  7.6  7.2% 4.4 years
Euro  17.3  17.3  .–  .– 

Financial assets  73.7  22.2  43.9  7.6 

2004
Sterling  65.4  4.8  53.0  7.6  7.1% 6.4 year s
Euro  20.8  20.8  .–  .– 

Financial assets  86.2  25.6  53.0  7.6 

Interest free financial assets are mainly cash balances with no fixed maturity dates and other investments.
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23 Financial instruments (continued)
Analysis of currency and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities
     Non-
      equity
     minority - Loan 
   Total Provisions¥ interests* Overdrafts† capital
   £m £m £m £m £m

2005
Sterling   1,265.6  29.1  3.1  21.1  1,212.3 
Euro   83.8  .–  .–  .–  83.8

Financial liabilities   1,349.4  29.1  3.1  21.1  1,296.1

2004
Sterling   819.3  27.0  3.1  48.1  741.1 
Euro   72.2  .–  .–  .–  72.2 

Financial liabilities   891.5  27.0  3.1  48.1  813.3 

 Weighted averages 
 re fixed rate debt#

   Floating Interest 
  Totalq rate§ free Fixed rate Interest Period rate
  £m £m £m £m rate is fixed for

2005
Sterling  1,265.6  814.8  16.6  434.2  6.9% 7.2 years
Euro  83.8  79.8  .–  4.0  8.0% 4.8 years

Financial liabilities  1,349.4  894.6  16.6  438.2 

2004
Sterling  819.3  367.4  15.8  436.1  7.0% 8.0 years
Euro  72.2  68.0  .–  4.2  8.0% 5.8 years

Financial liabilities  891.5  435.4  15.8  440.3 

†  Interest on overdrafts is based on floating rates linked to LIBOR.
§  Interest rates on floating rate loans are all linked to LIBOR.
q  The analysis of fixed and floating rates takes account of interest rate swaps.
#  The weighted averages for fixed rate debt excludes loans swapped to variable and non-equity minority interests.
*   The non-equity minority interests are the preference shares issued by Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd. The rights of these 

preference shares are disclosed in the accounts of Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd. 
¥  Provisions include onerous contracts and other provisions (note 24).

The group has entered into agreements which swap the fixed interest rate of £192.4m nominal value (£198.4m including 
premium) of the 11.625% debenture stock for variable rates until 2011, and the fixed interest rate of the 8.125% debenture 
stock for variable rates until 2021. In addition the group has entered into agreements which swap the variable rates on 
£150m of debt (2004 – £150m) to fixed rates of between 5.43% and 8.15% (2004 – 5.43% and 8.15%) for periods of up to  
4 years (2004 – up to 5 years). These have been hedge accounted for.

Interest free liabilities are mainly onerous contracts and other provisions with no fixed maturity dates.

Fair values of financial instruments
 Carrying values Fair values     
    2005 2004 2005 2004
    £m £m £m £m

Short term borrowings less cash and deposits    32.4  20.7  32.4  20.7 
Loans to joint ventures and associates    8.9  8.9  8.9  8.9 
Interest bearing debtor    4.9  4.8  4.9  4.8 
Provisions    (29.1) (27.0) (29.1) (27.0)
Non-equity minority interests    (3.1) (3.1) (2.7) (2.8)
Loan capital    (1,296.1) (813.3) (1,411.3) (975.6)
Derivatives relating to loan capital: 

Interest rate swaps    .–  .–  83.4  91.7 

The fair value of loan capital and derivative instruments is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the market 
yield curve at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of non-equity minority interests is based on the market price.
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Notes to the accounts continued

23 Financial instruments (continued)
Functional currencies of group operations
Other than currency funding for overseas net investments, there are no material monetary assets and liabilities which are 
denominated in currencies other than the local currency of the entity owning them. Exchange gains and losses on currency 
funding for overseas net investments are dealt with in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

Hedges
Profits and losses on financial instruments used for hedging are recognised when the exposure that is being hedged is 
recognised. Unrecognised gains and losses on financial instruments used for hedging are as follows:

      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Unrecognised net gains on hedges at 4 March 2004      91.7  110.7 
Net gains arising in previous years that were recognised in the year    (12.3) (11.8)

Net gains arising in previous years that were not recognised in the year    79.4  98.9 
Net gains/(losses) arising in the year that were not recognised in the year    4.0  (7.2)

Unrecognised net gains on hedges at 3 March 2005      83.4  91.7 

Of which, net gains expected to be recognised:
– next year      8.2  7.5 
– in subsequent years      75.2  84.2 

      83.4  91.7 

24 Provisions for liabilities and charges
   Reorganisation/ Onerous  Deferred
   restructuring contracts Other tax Total
   £m £m £m £m £m

Whitbread Group
4 March 2004   0.2  17.4  9.6  152.6  179.8 
Created   6.5  1.7  .–  17.8  26.0 
Unwound discounts (note 8)   .–  1.7  .–  .–  1.7 
Businesses acquired   .–  .–  .–  (5.0) (5.0)
Utilised   (6.3) (0.7) (0.6) .–  (7.6)

3 March 2005   0.4  20.1  9.0  165.4  194.9 

Whitbread PLC
4 March 2004 and 3 March 2005   .–  .–  5.0  .–  5.0 

An onerous contract provision in connection with businesses acquired of £13.1m (2003/4 – £11.4m) has been discounted 
using a rate of 13%. The discount effect of the other onerous contracts is not material. Onerous contract provisions are 
expected to be used over periods of up to 30 years.

Other provisions relate to warranties given on the disposal of businesses. These provisions are expected to be used over 
periods of up to five years.

The deferred tax provision in the accounts comprises:
      2005 2004
      £m £m

Accelerated capital allowances      148.6  143.0 
Losses      (1.7) .– 
Pension prepayments      18.5  9.6 

      165.4  152.6 

No provision has been made for tax on any gains which might arise in the event of properties being sold at their revalued 
amounts, as in the ordinary course of business the majority of properties would be retained indefinitely. No provision has 
been made for any additional liability to UK or overseas tax on the distribution of unappropriated profits or reserves of 
overseas subsidiaries, except to the extent that such distributions have been accrued as receivable.

No provision has been made for deferred tax on the sale of properties where gains have been rolled over into replacement 
assets. The total amount unprovided for is estimated at £97.1m (2004 – £95.1m).

Following the enactment of legislation, in the Finance Act 2002, to exempt from tax gains on disposals of substantial 
shareholdings no deferred tax is provided in respect of any gains which might arise in the event of investments being sold 
at their valuation amounts.
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25 Share capital

  Allotted, called
Whitbread PLC Authorised up and fully paid     
    2005 2004 2005 2004
    £m £m £m £m

Ordinary shares of 50 pence each    315.0  315.0  149.6  148.7 

Number of ordinary shares in issue (m)      299.3  297.4 

      Share Share
      capital premium
Ordinary shares      £m £m

4 March 2004      148.7  13.5 
Issued to employees by exercise of options      0.9  9.7 

3 March 2005      149.6  23.2 

Changes in authorised, allotted and issued ordinary share capital
At 3 March 2005 there were outstanding options for employees to purchase up to 8.0m (2004 – 8.6m) ordinary shares 
of 50 pence each between 2005 and 2014 at prices ranging between 413.0 pence per share and 1,101.0 pence per share. 
During the year to 3 March 2005 options on 1.9m (2004 – 1.4m) ordinary shares of 50 pence each, fully paid, were exercised 
by employees under the terms of various share option schemes.

The exemption from applying UITF 17 has been taken in respect of options granted under the SAYE share option schemes.

26 Reserves
     Share Joint
  Revaluation Merger Profit & scheme ventures &
  reserve reserve loss account reserve associates Total
Whitbread Group  £m £m £m £m £m £m

4 March 2004  124.5  (1,855.0) 3,621.1  (9.6) 48.4  1,929.4 
Currency translation differences  .–  .–  0.3 .–  .–  0.3 
Profit retained  .– .– 101.1  .– 0.5  101.6 
Accrued share based payments  .–  .–  0.7  .– .–  0.7
Cost of ESOT shares purchased  .–  .–  .–  (5.9) .–  (5.9)
Loss on ESOT shares issued to participants  .–  .–  (3.9) 3.9  .–  .– 
Realised revaluation gain transferred to  
the profit and loss account  (1.2) .–  1.2  .–  .–  .– 
Movement on associates’ reserves  .–  .–  .–  .–  3.7  3.7 

3 March 2005  123.3  (1,855.0) 3,720.5  (11.6) 52.6  2,029.8 

Whitbread PLC
4 March 2004    1,523.4    1,523.4 
Loss retained    (95.0)   (95.0)     
3 March 2005    1,428.4    1,428.4      

Goodwill       £m

Net amount written off against reserves to 4 March 2004 and 3 March 2005    298.2 

The Share scheme reserve referred to above relates to shares held by an independently managed employee share 
ownership trust (“ESOT”). These shares were purchased in order to satisfy outstanding employee share options and 
potential awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and other incentive schemes.

At 3 March 2005 the ESOT owned 1.70m shares (2004 – 1.41m shares) in Whitbread PLC, the market value of which was 
£15.1m (2004 – £10.5m). The ESOT has waived its right to dividends on these shares. Administration costs of the Plan are 
expensed as incurred. The operation of the Plan is more fully described in the remuneration report on pages 38 to 48.
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Notes to the accounts continued

27 Shareholders’ funds
      2005 2004
      £m £m

Movements in shareholders’ funds
Equity shareholders’ funds at 4 March 2004      2,091.6  1,983.9 
Prior year adjustment for UITF abstracts 17 – as amended and 38    .–  (6.7)

Equity shareholders’ funds at 4 March 2004      2,091.6  1,977.2 
Profit earned for ordinary shareholders      176.6  164.5 
Dividends      (75.0) (65.5)       
      101.6  99.0 
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year     0.3  (0.7)
Accrued share based payments      0.7 5.9 
Shares purchased for ESOT      (5.9) .– 
Movement on associates’ reserves      3.7  3.3 
Share capital issued      10.6  6.9 

Equity shareholders’ funds at 3 March 2005      2,202.6  2,091.6 

Movements in minority interests
Minority interests at 4 March 2004      6.8  6.7 
Minority share of profit      0.3  0.3 
Other movements      (1.3) (0.2)

Minority interests at 3 March 2005      5.8  6.8 

28 Net cash inflow from operating activities
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Group operating profit       253.0  236.5 
Depreciation/amortisation      143.0  127.9 
Impairment of property and goodwill      30.4  15.5 
Payments against provisions      (1.4) (2.4)
Other non-cash items       .–   5.9 
(Increase)/decrease in stocks      1.9  (0.5)
Increase in debtors      (21.1) (21.9)
Increase in creditors      34.1  21.9 

Cash flow from operating activities      439.9  382.9 

Payments against current year operating exceptional items amounted to £6.1m (2003/4 – nil). 
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29 Acquisitions
      Fair value 
     Book value adjustments Fair value 
2004/5     £m £m £m

Intangible fixed assets     0.4  0.8a 1.2 
Tangible fixed assets     542.3  3.1b 545.4 
Net working capital, excluding cash     3.7  (1.9)c 1.8 
Deferred tax     (0.2) 5.2d 5.0 
Cash     0.1  .–  0.1 

Cost of business acquired     546.3  7.2  553.5 

Cash outflow in respect of business acquired
Cost of business acquired       553.5 
Accrued consideration reduction       0.4 
Cash of business acquired       (0.1)

Cash outflow       553.8 

The above relates to the acquisition, on 25 July 2004, of Premier Inns Ltd containing the trade and assets of the Premier 
Lodge business.

Fair value adjustments:
a recognition of franchise fees
b increase in property valuations
c reassessment of committed refurbishment costs of sites acquired
d recognition of deferred tax asset

Premier Inns Ltd contributed £35m to the group’s net operating cash flows and utilised £14.1m for capital expenditure and 
financial investment, since its acquisition.

30 Balance sheet movements in cash and net debt
      Amortisation
     Foreign  of premiums
  2004 Acquisitions Cash flow exchange and discounts 2005
2004/5  £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand  68.8  .    53.5 
Overdrafts (note 21)  (48.1) .     (21.1)       
  20.7  0.1  11.1  0.5  .–  32.4 
Less short-term securities, bank deposits and borrowings  28.0  .– (8.5) .–  .–  19.5 

Cash   48.7  0.1  2.6  0.5  .–  51.9 
Short-term securities and bank deposits  0.4  .–  (0.2) .–  .–  0.2 
Short-term bank borrowings  (28.4) .–  8.7  .–  .–  (19.7)

Loan capital under one year  (5.8) .     (77.1)
Loan capital over one year  (807.5)     (1,219.0)       
Total loan capital (note 22)  (813.3) .–  (483.7) (1.9) 2.8  (1,296.1)

Net debt  (792.6) 0.1  (472.6) (1.4) 2.8  (1,263.7)

      Amortisation
     Foreign of premiums
   2003 Cash flow exchange and discounts 2004
2003/4   £m £m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand   75.4     68.8 
Overdrafts (note 21)   (46.1) .    (48.1)       
   29.3  (7.1) (1.5) .–  20.7 
Less short-term securities, bank deposits and borrowings   15.0  13.0  .–  .–  28.0 

Cash    44.3  5.9  (1.5) .–  48.7 
Short-term securities and bank deposits    5.7  (5.3) .–  .–  0.4 
Short-term bank borrowings   (20.7) (7.7) .–  .–  (28.4)

Loan capital under one year   (90.1)     (5.8)
Loan capital over one year   (879.8) .    (807.5)       
Total loan capital (note 22)   (969.9) 151.3  2.7  2.6  (813.3)

Net debt   (940.6) 144.2  1.2  2.6  (792.6)
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Notes to the accounts continued

31 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
      2004/5 2003/4
      £m £m

Increase in cash in the year      2.7  5.9 
Cash (inflow)/outflow from movement in loan capital     (483.7) 151.3 
Cash inflow from movement in liquid resources      (0.2) (5.3)
Cash (inflow)/outflow from movement in short-term borrowings    8.7  (7.7)

Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows      (472.5) 144.2 

Foreign exchange movements      (1.4) 1.2 
Amortisation of premiums and discounts      2.8  2.6 

Movement in net debt in the year      (471.1) 148.0 
Opening net debt      (792.6) (940.6)

Closing net debt      (1,263.7) (792.6)

32 Related parties
Material transactions with related parties consisted of purchases of soft drinks from Britannia Soft Drinks Ltd amounting 
to £15.4m (2003/4 – £14.1m) and sales of food and drink to Pizza Hut (UK) Ltd amounting to £95.5m (2003/4 – £90.9m).
Details of loans to joint ventures and associates are shown in notes 16 and 17. Trading balances with joint ventures and 
associates are shown in notes 20 and 21. Transactions with directors can be found in the remuneration report on pages 38 
to 48.

33 Contingent liabilities
There were no material contingent liabilities at 3 March 2005 or 4 March 2004.

34 Lease commitments
   Plant and 2005  Plant and 2004
  Property machinery Total Property machinery Total
Whitbread Group  £m £m £m £m £m £m

Annual payments under operating leases which expire:
Within one year  3.8  0.7  4.5  4.1  1.5  5.6 
Between one and five years  15.8  7.2  23.0  11.9  6.0  17.9 
After five years  44.8  0.1  44.9  39.1  0.4  39.5 

  64.4  8.0  72.4  55.1  7.9  63.0 

35 Foreign exchange rates
The average euro exchange rate used during the year was 1.471 (2003/4 – 1.439) and the closing rate was 1.454 (2004 – 1.496).

36 Post balance sheet event
On 14 March 2005 Whitbread PLC announced its intention to exit from the operation and ownership of its franchised 
Marriott hotels business. The details of the disposal were sent to shareholders on 5 April 2005 and the transaction was 
approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 22 April 2005.

On 25 April 2005 Whitbread PLC announced that it has signed a conditional agreement to dispose of its German 
restaurant business. The total cash proceeds, including a repatriation of capital prior to the sale, will be €35.6m.
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Five year summary

Profit and loss account – £m
   2000/1 2001/2 2002/3
   restated restated restated 2003/4 2004/5

Turnover of group and joint ventures   3,095.2  2,171.6  1,965.1  1,977.4  2,111.0 
Group turnover    2,954.6  2,014.3  1,794.1  1,788.2  1,912.9 
Operating profit before exceptional items   428.2  280.0  274.6  293.0  327.8 
Operating profit as % of turnover of group and joint ventures  13.8% 12.9% 14.0% 14.8% 15.5%
Profit before exceptional items and tax   334.8  213.4  213.6  240.8  263.5 
Profit before tax   292.3  7.0  202.4  211.7  249.4 
Basic earnings per share (pence)   37.26  (15.91) 51.64  55.74  59.56 
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence)   47.87  47.85  52.72  58.22  64.08 
Ordinary dividends per share (pence)   31.15  17.80  19.87  22.30  25.25 
Interest cover (times covered) #   4.6  4.2  4.5  5.6  5.1 
Adjusted ordinary dividend cover (times covered) *   1.5  2.7  2.7  2.6  2.5 
Average number of employees   79,209  61,470  55,315  52,437 53,483

Notes:
Changes in accounting policies have, where material, been reflected in prior years.
# Calculated by reference to operating profit before exceptional items.
* Calculated by reference to adjusted basic earnings per share.

Balance sheet – £m
   2001 2002 2003
   restated restated restated 2004 2005

Intangible fixed assets   159.2  149.9  141.5  147.6  126.0 
Tangible fixed assets   4,138.1  2,996.1  3,045.1  2,989.7  3,596.2 
Investments   94.3  102.9  99.2  113.7  120.6 

Total fixed assets   4,391.6  3,248.9  3,285.8  3,251.0  3,842.8 

Current assets   268.9  213.2  230.4  254.9  297.0 
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year   (689.9) (431.8) (474.4) (420.2) (517.5)

Net current liabilities   (421.0) (218.6) (244.0) (165.3) (220.5)

Total assets less current liabilities   3,970.6  3,030.3  3,041.8  3,085.7  3,622.3 
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year  (1,272.6) (978.5) (879.8) (807.5) (1,219.0)
Provisions for liabilities and charges   (207.0) (170.2) (178.1) (179.8) (194.9)

   2,491.0  1,881.6  1,983.9  2,098.4  2,208.4 

Called up share capital   2,207.8  147.7  148.0  148.7  149.6 
Share premium account   .–  4.4  7.3  13.5  23.2 
Reserves   277.9  1,723.0  1,821.9  1,929.4  2,029.8 

Shareholders’ funds   2,485.7  1,875.1  1,977.2  2,091.6  2,202.6 
Minority interests   5.3  6.5  6.7  6.8  5.8 

   2,491.0  1,881.6  1,983.9  2,098.4  2,208.4 

Net debt †   1,291.3  976.0  940.6  792.6  1,263.7 
Gearing (%) ¥   51.8  51.9  47.4  37.8  57.2 
Net asset value per ordinary share (pence)    506.7  634.8  668.0  703.3  735.9 

Notes:
† Net debt is loan capital and bank overdrafts less cash at bank and in hand (see notes 30 and 31).
¥ Gearing represents net debt expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ funds and minority interests.
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Five year summary continued

Cash flow – £m   2000/1 2001/2 2002/3 2003/4 2004/5

Cash flow from operating activities   492.3  352.1  355.2  382.9  439.9 
Dividends from joint ventures and associates   3.5  2.8  13.3  21.4  23.1 
Returns on investments and servicing of finance   (96.9) (71.9) (63.4) (56.0) (70.6)
Tax paid   (92.9) (83.4) (49.6) (28.0) (48.8)
Capital expenditure and financial investment §   (185.7) (224.3) (185.7) (102.0) (198.8)
Acquisitions and disposals q   489.3  461.6  23.1  (20.6) (553.8)
Equity dividends paid   (148.2) (128.1) (53.9) (60.4) (68.2)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing   461.4  308.8  39.0  137.3  (477.2)
Management of liquid resources   0.8  0.2  3.9  5.3  0.2 
Financing   (449.0) (308.4) (33.2) (136.7) 479.7 

Increase in cash   13.2  0.6  9.7  5.9  2.7 

§Capital expenditure and financial investment
Fixed assets purchased   (331.9) (286.8) (218.3) (209.0) (260.9)
Property and plant sold   130.8  64.4  29.4  112.3  64.8 
Net investment and loan (increase)/decrease   15.4  (1.9) 3.2  (5.3) (2.7)

   (185.7) (224.3) (185.7) (102.0) (198.8)

qAcquisitions and disposals
New businesses acquired   (11.0) .–  .–  (20.6) (553.8)
Businesses sold   500.3  461.6  23.1  .–  .– 

   489.3  461.6  23.1  (20.6) (553.8)

Analysis of shares – 3 March 2005

Range of shares Number of shareholders % of shareholders Number of shares % of issued shares

1-100  27,003  37.66  1,097,368  0.37
101-500  26,791  37.37  6,615,709  2.21
501-1,000  9,503  13.25  6,713,025  2.24
1,001-5,000  6,981  9.74  13,191,238  4.41
5,001-10,000  468  0.65  3,258,556  1.09
10,001-25,000  292  0.41  4,544,557  1.52
25,001-125,000  358  0.50  20,369,898  6.81
125,001-250,000  109  0.15  18,995,298  6.35
250,001-1,250,000  145  0.20  78,507,953  26.23
1,250,001-2,500,000  22  0.03  39,854,656  13.32
Over 2,500,000  23  0.03  106,121,753  35.46

  71,695  100.00   299,270,011  100.00
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Shareholder services

Unsolicited mail
We are aware that some other 
companies’ shareholders have had 
occasion to complain of the use, by 
outside organisations, of information 
obtained from those companies’ 
share registers. Whitbread, like other 
companies, cannot by law refuse to 
supply such information provided that 
the organisation concerned pays the 
appropriate statutory fee. 

If you are a resident in the UK and 
wish to stop receiving unsolicited mail 
then you should register with the 
Mailing Preference Service, telephone: 
020 7291 3310 or you may prefer to 
write to:

The Mailing Preference Service  
Freepost 22, London, W1E 7EZ

Company Secretary and  
Registered Office
Simon Barratt

Whitbread PLC, 
Whitbread House, 
Park Street West, 
Luton, 
Bedfordshire LU1 3BG

Shareholder enquiries: 0870 703 0103

Sharegift
If you have a small number of 
Whitbread PLC shares, with a value 
that makes it uneconomical to sell 
them, you may donate the shares to 
charity through the Sharegift scheme 
operated by the Orr Mackintosh 
Foundation. Further information on 
Sharegift can be obtained from their 
website (www.sharegift.org) or by 
calling 020 7337 0501.

Capital gains tax 
Market values of shares in the 
company as at 31 March 1982 were  
as follows:

‘A’ limited voting shares of 25p each 
103.75p

‘B’ limited shares of 25p each 103.75p

Whitbread has had discussions with 
the Inland Revenue concerning the 
capital gains tax cost of Whitbread 
shares following the reduction 
of capital on 10 May 2001. It is 
confirmed that the market value of 
each Whitbread share on 10 May 
2001 for these purposes was 606.5p 
and the market value of each Fairbar 
share was 230p.

Individual Savings Account (ISA) 
NatWest provide a company 
sponsored ISA. For further information 
or to receive a copy of the ISA brochure 
please ring 020 7895 5600. Calls are 
charged at national rates. 

Registrar
The company’s registrar is 
Computershare Investor Services PLC, 
PO Box 82 
The Pavilions,  
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol BS99 7NH.

The website address is  
www.computershare.com. 

For enquiries regarding your 
shareholding please telephone  
0870 703 0103, or email  
web.queries@computershare.co.uk.

You can also view up-to-date 
information about your holdings  
by visiting  
www.mywhitbreadshares.com. 

Please ensure that you advise 
Computershare promptly of any 
change of address. 

Electronic shareholder  
communications

Shareholders wishing to receive  
the Annual Report and Accounts 
and/or the Interim Report in electronic 
rather than paper form should  
register their instruction at  
www.mywhitbreadshares.com in the 
electronic communications section.

Dividend reinvestment plan
Full details of the plan, which offers 
you the chance to reinvest your cash 
dividend in the purchase of additional 
company shares, are available from 
the registrars at the address given 
above or on www.whitbread.co.uk in 
the shareholder services section. 

Dividend payment by BACS
We can pay your dividends direct to 
your bank or building society account 
using the Bankers’ Automated 
Clearing Service (BACS). This means 
that your dividend will be in your 
account on the same day we make 
the payment. Your tax voucher will 
be posted to your home address. If 
you would like to use this method of 
payment please ring the registrars  
on 0870 703 0103.

For further information about the company and its businesses 
please visit the Whitbread website at www.whitbread.co.uk
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Financial diary and Share dealing services

Financial diary – 2005/6 (dates subject to confirmation)

26 April Results announcement 
4 May Ex dividend date for final dividend 
6 May Record date for final dividend 
13 May Record date for special dividend 
16 May Ex dividend date for special dividend 
20 May Payment of special dividend 
14 June AGM at Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre 
8 July Payment of final dividend 
1 September Half year-end 
25 October Announcement of half year results 
2 November Ex dividend date for interim dividend 
4 November Record date for interim dividend

3 January 2006 Payment of interim dividend 
2 March 2006 End of financial year 

Share dealing services

Organisation Telephone Address Online

Barclays 0845 702 3021 Barclays Stockbrokers, www.stockbrokers.barclays.co.uk 
Stockbrokers  Tay House, 
  300 Bath Street, 
  Glasgow G2 4LH 

Computershare 0870 703 0084 Computershare Investor www.computershare.co.uk 
Investor Services  Services, PO Box 82, 
  The Pavilions, 
  Bridgwater Road, 
  Bristol BS99 7NH

NatWest  0870 600 2050 NatWest Stockbrokers, www.natweststockbrokers.co.uk 
Stockbrokers  PO Box 549, 
  Leeds LS1 4WN

Stocktrade 0845 840 1533 Stocktrade,  www.stocktrade.co.uk/ 
 (quote ref: PO Box 1076, whitbread/index.html 
 Low Co0101) 10 George Street, 
  Edinburgh EH2 2PZ  

These details have been provided for information only and any action you take is at your own risk. If you are in any doubt about what action to take, please consult 
your own financial adviser. Should you not wish to use these services you could find  a broker in your local area, on the internet or enquire about share dealing  at any  
high street bank or building society.  The availability of these services should not be taken as a recommendation to deal.

Designed and produced by Dragon.

Printed by Royle Corporate Print, registered to the environment standard ISO 14001. The material used in this report comprises 50% recycled fibre 
and 50% TCF (Totally Chlorine Free) virgin fibre, sourced from sustainable forests and produced by a mill registered to ISO 14001.

Photography by David Townend.
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